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The Baltic Investment Special Fund

Income statement  Year to Year to
For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 

2006
31 December 

2005 
Note € 000 € 000

Interest and similar income     
   From loans - 16                       
   Other interest 652                     775                     
Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 4 76                       661                     
Net losses from available-for-sale share investments 5 (847) -
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (150) 394                     
Other operating expenses 6 (7) (7)
Operating profit before provisions  (276) 1,839                  
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 7 - 12                       
Net (loss)/profit for the year (276) 1,851                  

Balance sheet
 31 December  31 December 

At 31 December 2006 2006                   2005                   
Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 4,833                  37,307                
Other assets 8 31                       75                       

Share investments 9

Share investments at fair value through profit or loss - 371          
Available-for-sale share investments 5,044       5,415       

5,044                  5,786                  
Total assets 9,908                  43,168                

Liabilities 
Other liabilities 7                         7                         

Contributors’ resources
  Contributions 10 7,050       41,500     
  Reserves and retained earnings 2,851       1,661       
Total contributors’ resources 9,901                  43,161                
Total liabilities 9,908                  43,168                 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund

Statement of cash flows Year to Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 31 December 

2006                 2005                 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss)/profit for the year (276) 1,851              
Adjustments for:
   Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss (76) (661)
   Net losses from available-for-sale share investments 847                 -                      
   Provisions for impairment of loan investments -                      (12)
   Foreign exchange 150                 (394)
Operating profit before changes in operating assets 645                 784                 
Decrease/(increase) in operating assets:
   Interest receivable 44                   4                     
   Proceeds from repayment of loans -                      857                 
   Proceeds from sale of share investments 2,269              2,902              
   Funds advanced for share investments (832) (2,859)
Decrease in operating liabilities:
   Accrued expenses - (1)
Net cash from operating activities 2,126              1,687              
Cash flows from financing activities
   Donor contributions refunded (34,450) -
Net cash from financing activities (34,450) -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (32,324) 1,687              
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 37,307            35,226            
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (150) 394                 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4,833              37,307             
 
 
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources 
For the year ended 31 December 2006 Special General  Accumulated Net 

Contributions reserve reserve (loss)/profit reserves Tota
€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

At 31 December 2004 41,500           173                - (1,658) (1,485) 40,015           
Transitional restatement of opening balances - - 471                - 471                471                
for fair value of share investments 
At 1 January 2005 41,500           173                471                (1,658) (1,014) 40,486           
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale - - 824                - 824                824                
share investments for the year
Profit for the year - - - 1,851             1,851             1,851             
At 31 December 2005 41,500           173                1,295             193                1,661             43,161           
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale -                     -                     1,466             -                     1,466             1,466             
share investments for the year
Profit for the year -                     -                     -                     (276) (276) (276)
Donor contributions refunded (34,450) -                     -                     -                     -                     (34,450)
At 31 December 2006 7,050             173                2,761             (83) 2,851             9,901             

l 

 
 
No fees and commissions qualifying to be set aside to the special reserve were earned in the year to  
31 December 2006.  Therefore, there is no need, in accordance with the Fund Agreement, to set aside an amount to the 
special reserve. 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The Baltic Investment Special Fund ("the Fund") was created by and is administered under the terms of an Agreement 

dated 14 April 1992 ("the Fund Agreement") between the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the 
Bank") and the Governments of the Kingdom of Denmark, the Republic of Finland, the Republic of Iceland, the 
Kingdom of Norway and the Kingdom of Sweden ("the Nordic countries"). 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of the 

Fund is to promote private sector development through support for small and medium-sized enterprises in Estonia, 
Latvia and Lithuania ("the Baltic States").  

 
 The Fund was terminated in July 2006 in  mutual agreement between the Bank and the Nordic countries with the 

approval of the Board of Directors.  Upon termination of the Fund, the available net assets of the Fund were distributed 
to the donors.  Further distributions will occur as appropriate under the terms of the termination and in accordance with 
the Rules and Regulations of the Fund. 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 
 IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option 
 This amendment permits the irrevocable designation on initial recognition of financial instruments that meet certain 

conditions as ones to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  The conditions that are required to be met under 
the amendment are where such designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, when a group 
of financial assets, financial liabilities or both are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and when an instrument contains an embedded 
derivative that meets particular conditions.  From 1 January 2005 the Fund has designated its associate share 
investments and high-risk equity funds at fair value through profit or loss as the performance of these assets is managed 
on a fair value basis in accordance with the Bank’s risk management and accounting policies. 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 



 

4 

The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 2006 

financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds; 

and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment. 

 
Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 

 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 

Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the disclosure of 

qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified 
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of sensitivity to market risk.  
It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and the 
disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) 
introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages that capital.  The Fund has assessed the 
impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main additional disclosures will be in relation to 
sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 
2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly 
by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  Generally, 
financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating operating segment 
performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the Fund currently comprises a single 
primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (the Baltic States) IFRS 8 is not expected to impact 
the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting 

period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
(effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Changes in critical accounting policies, accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 
 
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates (IAS 28 Revised 2005) 
Prior to 2005 all share investments were accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets as the Fund did not issue 
consolidated financial statements under the requirements of the previous IAS 28.  As of 1 January 2005, the Fund 
applied the exemption for venture capital organisations under IAS 28 Revised 2005.  This permitted the Fund to 
designate share investments, previously held as available-for-sale, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  
The Fund has chosen to designate all associate share investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
with changes in fair value included in the income statement.  All remaining share investments continue to be designated 
as available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Prior to 2005 the Bank concluded that it could not reliably measure the fair value of the Fund’s unlisted share 
investments and as such it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted associate share investments. 
 
Fair valuation of unlisted share investments 
Prior to 2005, the Bank valued the Fund’s unlisted share investments at historic cost, less any provisions for 
impairment.  In 2005 the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the share investment portfolio as at 1 
January 2005 and 31 December 2005.  As a result of the assessment the Bank enhanced its valuation techniques so that 
unlisted equity could be measured at fair value. 
 
As fair value could not be reliably measured prior to 2005 it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted 
share investments.  At 1 January 2005 the Fund released portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of share 
investments and specific provisions for the identified impairment of share investments, totalling € 3,732,000, to 
reserves.  In addition the Fund restated all unlisted share investments to fair value resulting in a reduction to the Fund’s 
reserves of € 3,261,000.  The total impact on the Fund’s opening reserves was a net increase of € 471,000. 
 
iii Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
This category comprises the Fund’s associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet with changes in fair value recorded in the income statement.  The basis of fair value for unlisted share 
investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. 
Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 10 analyses unlisted share investments. 
 

Available-for-sale 
This category comprises the Fund’s non-associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the 
balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded through reserves, as disclosed in the “statement of changes in 
contributor’s resources”, until the financial asset is sold or determined to be impaired. At this time the cumulative profit 
or loss previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in the income statement.  The basis of fair value for 
unlisted share investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each 
investment. Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 8 analyses unlisted share 
investments. 

 
iv Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in the income statement during 
the reporting period. 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are the fair value of available-for-sale share investments and 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables 
which reflect the economic environment and financial markets of the Bank’s countries of operations but which are not 
directly correlated to market risks such as interest rate and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined 
with a lack of comparable information in relation to the Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply 
traditional sensitivity analysis methods. 

 
 v Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006.  Non-
monetary items are expressed in euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Revenue and expense 
items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the date on which they occurred.  Exchange gains or losses arising 
from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to the income statement.   
 
vi Dividends 
Dividends relating to share investments are recognised when received. 
 

 vii Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement by 

the Bank and a contributor. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a present value basis as there has 
been no indication as to the precise payment date of outstanding contributions. The Fund is satisfied that they will be 
realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements. 

 
 viii Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ 

maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 

 
ix Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
 

 x Comparatives 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year. 

 
4 Net gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss

2006              2005               

€ 000 € 000 

Net unrealised gains from associate share investments. 76                 661                
Net gains from assets at fair value through profit or loss 76                 661                
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
5 Net losses from available-for-sale share investments

2006              2005              

€ 000 € 000 

Impairment losses from available-for-sale share investments 847 -
Net losses from available-for-sale share investments 847 -  

 
6 Other operating expenses 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund. Included in this amount is 

external auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100). 
 
7 Provisions for impairment of loan investments

2006              2005              

Release for the year € 000 € 000 
Portfolio provision for the unidentified impairment of assets:
   Non-sovereign risk assets - (12)
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - (12)

Movement in provisions € 000 € 000 

At 1 January - 1                 
Release - (12)
At 31 December - -

2

 

8 Other assets
2006              2005               
€ 000 € 000 

Interest receivable on placements 31                 75                 
At 31 December 31                 75                  

 
9 Share investments

Share investments Available-for-sale Total 
at fair value share share 

through profit or loss investments investments 

Outstanding disbursements € 000 € 000 € 000 
At 31 December 2004 - 7,605                          7,605                          
Designated as fair value through profit or loss 2,419                          (2,419) -
At 1 January 2005 2,419                          5,186                          7,605                          
Disbursements - 2,859                          2,859                          
Disposals at cost (1,877) (1,025) (2,902)
At 31 December 2005 542                             7,020                          7,562                          
Disbursements -                                 832                             832                             
Disposals at cost (447) (1,822) (2,269)
At 31 December 2006 95                               6,030                          6,125                          

Fair value adjustment
At 31 December 2004 - (3,732) (3,732)
Designated as fair value through profit or loss (1,718) 1,718                          -
Transitional restatement of opening balances to fair value 886                             (415) 471                             
At 1 January 2005 (832) (2,429) (3,261)
Movement in fair value revaluation 661                             824                             1,485                          
At 31 December 2005 (171) (1,605) (1,776)
Movement in fair value revaluation 76                               1,466                          1,542                          
Impairment of available-for-sale share investments -                                 (847) (847)
At 31 December 2006 (95) (986) (1,081)
Fair value at 31 December 2006                               - 5,044                          5,044                          
Fair value at 31 December 2005 371                             5,415                          5,786                           
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
10 Contributions

Cumulative contributions received from the Nordic countries are set out below:
2006                             2005                             2006 2005                             

€ 000 € 000 % %

Denmark 1,519                          8,940                          21.6 21.6                            
Finland 1,466                          8,629                          20.8 20.8                            
Iceland 72                               427                             1.0 1.0                              
Norway 1,314                          7,732                          18.6 18.6                            
Sweden 2,679                          15,772                        38.0 38.0                            
At 31 December 7,050                          41,500                        100.0 100.0                           

 
11 Analysis of operational activity

Outstanding Outstanding Undrawn Undrawn 

disbursements disbursements commitments Commitments 

2006                             2005                             2006                             2005                             

Analysis by country € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Regional 6,125                          7,562                          3,288                          4,158                          
At 31 December 6,125                          7,562                          3,288                          4,158                           

 
12 Net currency position 

United States Other 
Euro dollars currencies Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 4,187                   646                      -                          4,833                   
Other assets 28                        3                          -                          31                        
Share investments -                          -                          5,044                   5,044                   
Total assets 4,215                   649                      5,044                   9,908                   

Liabilities 
Other liabilities (7) -                          -                          (7)
Total contributors’ resources (9,901) -                          -                          (9,901)
Total liabilities (9,908) -                          -                          (9,908)
Net currency position at 31 December 2006 (5,693) 649                      5,044                   -                           

 
 

United States Other 
Euro dollars currencies Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 35,713                 1,594                   -                          37,307                 
Other assets 71                        4                          -                          75                        
Share investments -                          -                          5,786                   5,786                   
Total assets 35,784                 1,598                   5,786                   43,168                 

Liabilities 
Other liabilities (7) -                          -                          (7)
Total contributors’ resources (43,161) -                          -                          (43,161)
Total liabilities (43,168) -                          -                          (43,168)
Net currency position at 31 December 2005 (7,384) 1,598                   5,786                   -                           

 
Amounts aggregated under “Other currencies” are derived from the currency risks undertaken through the Fund’s share 
investments in regional operations. The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in 
United States dollars into euro at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
13  Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributors’ resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the most 
prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity undefined” 
category. 
 

Over 1 month
Up to and up to

and including and including Maturity
1 month 3 months undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 4,833                   -                          -                          4,833                   
Other assets 31                        -                          -                          31                        
Share investments -                          -                          5,044                   5,044                   
Total assets 4,864                   -                          5,044                   9,908                   

Liabilities 
Other liabilities - (7) -                          (7)
Total contributors' resources - - (9,901) (9,901)
Total liabilities - (7) (9,901) (9,908)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 4,864                   (7) (4,857) -                          
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 4,864                   4,857                   -                          -                          

Over 1 month
Up to and up to

and including and including Maturity
1 month 3 months undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 37,307                 -                          -                          37,307                 
Other assets 75                        -                          -                          75                        
Share investments -                          -                          5,786                   5,786                   
Total assets 37,382                 -                          5,786                   43,168                 

Liabilities 
Other liabilities - (7) -                          (7)
Total contributors’ resources - - (43,161) (43,161)
Total liabilities -                          (7) (43,161) (43,168)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 37,382                 (7) (37,375) -                          
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 37,382                 37,375                 -                          -                           
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
14 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and liabilities 

at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 
 

Up to Non-interest- 
and including bearing 

1 month funds Total 

Interest rate risk 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 4,833                   -                          4,833                   
Other assets -                          31                        31                        
Share investments -                          5,044                   5,044                   
Total assets 4,833                   5,075                   9,908                   
Liabilities 
Other liabilities -                          (7) (7)
Total contributors’ resources -                          (9,901) (9,901)
Total liabilities -                          (9,908) (9,908)
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 4,833                   (4,833) -

Up to Non-interest- 
and including bearing 

1 month funds Total 

Interest rate risk 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 37,307                 -                          37,307                 
Other assets -                          75                        75                        
Share investments -                          5,786                   5,786                   
Total assets 37,307                 5,861                   43,168                 
Liabilities 
Other liabilities - (7)
Total contributors’ resources - (43,161) (43,161)
Total liabilities -                          (43,168) (43,168)
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 37,307                 (37,307) -                           

  
 The table below summaries the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
  

 United  United

 Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

 2006 2006 2005 2005

 % % % %

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 2.59 3.50 1.99 2.64

 
15 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair value. 
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The Baltic Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
16 Segment information 
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment is 

geographical.  At 31 December 2006 the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and one geographic region (the Baltic States).  Consequently, no additional disclosure is required. 

 
17 Related parties 
 
 The Fund has a number of venture capital associates that it accounts for at fair value through profit or loss. At 

31 December 2006, according to unaudited management information or most recently available audited financial 
statements from the investee companies, they had total assets of €447,000 (2005: €447,000), total liabilities of €9,000 
(2005: €9,000), and for the year ended 31 December 2006 had revenue of €920,000 (2005: €920,000) and made a net 
profit of €876,000 (2005: €876,000). 

 
18  Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements. 



 

Independent auditor’s report to the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Baltic Investment Special Fund for the year 
ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the 
statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting 
policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Baltic Technical Assistance Special Fund 
 
    

Statement of movements in fund balance  Year to   Year to

For the year ended 31 December 2006   31 December 2006   31 December 2005

  Note  € 000   € 000

Balance brought forward   1,365   1,598

Interest and similar income   27   23

   1,392   1,621

Contributions refunded to donor   4  (830)                              - 

Disbursements  5  (52)   (252)

Other operating expenses  6  (4)   (4)

Balance of fund available   506   1,365

      
      

Balance sheet   31 December   31 December

At 31 December 2006    2006    2005

  Note  € 000   € 000

Assets      

Placements with credit institutions   506   1,362

Other assets   4   6

Total assets   510   1,368

      

Liabilities and contributors’ resources      

Unallocated fund balance   65   759

Allocated fund balance  5  441   606

   506   1,365

Other liabilities   4   3

Total liabilities and contributors’ resources   510   1,368
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The Baltic Technical Assistance Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 

The Baltic Technical Assistance Special Fund ("the Fund") was created by and is administered under the terms of an 
Agreement dated 14 April 1992 ("the Fund Agreement") between the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development ("the Bank") and the Governments of the Kingdom of Denmark, the Republic of Finland, the Republic 
of Iceland, the Kingdom of Norway and the Kingdom of Sweden ("the Nordic countries"). 
 
The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 
the Fund is to promote the development of a market economic system in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. In this 
respect, the Fund focuses on the development of small and medium-sized enterprises in the private sector. 
 
The Fund was terminated in July 2006 in a mutual agreement between the Bank and the Nordic countries with the 
approval of the Bank’s Board of Directors.  Upon termination of the Fund, the available net assets of the Fund were 
distributed to the donors.  A final distribution will occur upon completion of the remaining projects within the Fund.      

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

policies disclosed in note 3 below. 
 
3 Significant accounting policies 
 
 i Accounting convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  Contributions and disbursements 
are accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income and operating expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. 
 

 ii Foreign currencies 
Disbursements in currencies other than euro (€) are translated into euro at exchange rates ruling at the time of the 
transaction. 
 

 iii Completed projects 
A project is defined as completed when all consultants involved have satisfied all contractual obligations and all 
invoices related to the project have been submitted for payment. 

 
On completion of a project any committed amounts not disbursed are reassigned to the unallocated fund balance. 

 
 iv Comparatives 

No adjustments to comparative figures were necessary as there were no changes in presentation in the current year. 
 
4 Contributions 
 

Cumulative contributions received and refunded from the Nordic countries are set out below:   
      
 Contributions

received 
 Contributions

refunded
 Net 

contributions 
  € 000   € 000 € 000  %

Denmark  1,450   179 1,271  21.5

Finland  1,411 173 1,238  20.9

Iceland 69 8 61  1.0

Norway 1,256 155 1,101  18.6

Sweden 2,564 315 2,249  38.0

At 31 December 2006 6,750 830  5,920  100.0
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The Baltic Technical Assistance Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
5 Allocated fund balance and disbursements 
 

The allocated fund balance represents all commitments approved by the Bank under the terms of the Fund Agreement 
net of cumulative disbursements. 

Commitments   Allocated fund
approved Disbursements  balance

€ 000 € 000  € 000
Projects in operation   
At 1 January 2006 3,536 2,930  606

Movement in the year (1,074)          (909)  (165)

At 31 December 2006 2,462 2,021  441

  

Completed projects   

At 1 January 2006 20,028 20,028  -

Movement in the year 961 961  -

At 31 December 2006 20,989 20,989  -

  

Total projects   

At 1 January 2006 23,564 22,958  606

Movement in the year  (113)  52  (165)

At 31 December 2006 23,451 23,010  441

 
 
6 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund, including fees payable to the 

Bank for operating the Fund, calculated at 5 per cent of each contribution instalment received and each transfer of 
income from the Baltic Investment Special Fund. Operating expenses borne by the Bank and eligible for recharge to 
the Fund also include external auditors’ remuneration of € 3,720 (2005: € 3,532). 

 
 
7 Net currency position 
 

All assets and liabilities of the Fund are denominated in euro. 
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Independent auditors' report to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the 
‘Bank’) 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements of the Baltic Technical Assistance 
Special Fund which comprise the Statement of Movements in Fund Balance, the Balance Sheet as at 31 
December 2006, the related notes numbered 1 to 7 for the year then ended which have been prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 3.  These special purpose financial statements 
have been prepared solely to meet the terms of the Agreement of Cooperation between EBRD and the 
Contributors to the Fund. 
 
 
Responsibility of the President for the financial statements  
 
The President’s responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 
policies are set out in note 2 to the financial statements. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.  
 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying special purpose financial statements have been prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 3 to the financial statements. 
 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank and for the confidential use 
of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
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assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
   Restated 

Income statement  Year to  Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006  31 December 2006  31 December 2005 

 Note  € 000  € 000 

Interest and similar income       
   From loans   1,746  1,350 
   Other interest  1,458  726 
Net interest income  3,204  2,076 
Net (losses)/gains from available-for-sale share 
investments 4 

 
(183)

  
10,969 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (5,280)  4,901 
Other operating expenses 5  (7)  (7)
Operating (loss)/profit before provisions (2,266)  17,939 
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 
and guarantees 

 
6 

 
561 

  
(967)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (1,705)  16,972 
     

    Restated 

Balance sheet   31 December  31 December 

At 31 December 2006  2006  2005 
 Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets     
Placements with credit institutions   25,479  28,191 
Other assets 7  378  291 
Loan investments      
  Loan investments 8 30,914  31,443  
  Less: Provisions for impairment 6 (3,280)  (4,450)  
   27,634  26,993 
Share investments      

Available-for-sale share investments 9  1,158  767 
Total assets  54,649  56,242 
     
Liabilities      
Other liabilities 10  7  55 
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel 
   investments 

 
6 

 
4,413 

 
 

 
4,746 

      
Contributions 11 59,351  59,351  
Reserves and retained earnings  (9,122)  (7,910)  
Total contributors’ resources  50,229  51,441 
Total liabilities    54,649  56,242 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 

  Restated 

Statement of cash flows Year to  Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December  31 December 
2006  2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 

  
Cash flows from operating activities    
Operating (loss)/profit for the year (1,705)  16,972  
Adjustments for:     

Net losses/(gains) from available-for-sale share 
investments 

183  (10,969)  

Net payments under guaranteed parallel investments (47)  -  
   Provisions for impairment of loan investments and   

guarantees 
 

(561)
  

967 
 

   Foreign exchange 5,280  (4,901)  
Operating profit before changes in operating assets 3,150  2,069  
      
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:     
   Interest receivable (87)  (42)  
   Proceeds from repayment of loans  6,287  4,491  
   Funds advanced for loans (8,805)  (16,187)  
   Proceeds from sale of share investments 3  14,426  
(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:     
    Accrued expenses (48)  48  
Net cash from operating activities 500  4,805 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 500  4,805 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 28,191  20,335 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (3,212)  3,051 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 25,479  28,191 
 
 
 
 
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources   

For the year ended 31 December 2006  General Accumulated  
Contributions reserve (loss)  Total 

€ 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 

At 31 December 2004 59,351 - (35,138)  24,213 
Transitional restatement of opening balances for fair 
value of share investments 

 
- 

 
10,702 

 
- 

  
10,702 

At 1 January 2005 as restated in prior year 59,351 10,702 (35,138)  34,915 
Prior year restatement from changes in accounting 
policies 

 
- 

 
- 

 
8,913 

  
8,913 

At 1 January 2005 as restated 59,351 10,702 (26,225)  43,828 

Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share 
investments for the year 

 
- 

 
(9,359)

 
- 

  
(9,359)

Profit for the year - - 16,972  16,972 
At 31 December 2005 59,351 1,343 (9,253)  51,441 
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share 
investments for the year 

 
- 

 
493 

 
- 

  
493 

Loss for the year - - (1,705)  (1,705)
At 31 December 2006 59,351 1,836 (10,958)  50,229 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of 

Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") at its meeting of 18 
October 1993 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved 
also by the Board on that date. The Fund became operational in 1994 when commitments by donors totalled 
US$ 3.0 million and the pilot phase of the programme was further extended during that year. An amendment to the 
Rules and Regulations was approved by the Board on 14 July 1994 to change the denomination of the Fund from 
euro to United States dollars. However, consistent with the Bank’s financial statements, the unit of measurement for 
the presentation of the Fund’s financial statements is euro. The full-scale phase of the Russia Small Business Fund 
Programme was approved by the Board at its meeting of 30 August 1995 and a revised version of the Rules and 
Regulations of the Fund, in connection with the full-scale phase, was approved by the Board on 1 April 1996. 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to assist the development of small businesses in the private sector in the Russian Federation. 
 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of 
the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. 

 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently 

measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure 
required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.  The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal 
losses of the Bank’s investments in which the Fund makes a parallel investment.  The Fund receives no benefit for 
being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and there are no preferential lending arrangements on 
behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  As there is no implied value of these guarantees to the Fund, they 
are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.  Any subsequent provisioning is determined under IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 
 The Fund has retrospectively applied this Amendment and, as a result of provisions for guarantees being determined 

under IAS 37, the effect of the restatement was to decrease provisions for impairment in 2005 by €1.0 million, 
increase foreign exchange by €1.3 million and increase the Fund’s opening retained earnings at 1 January 2005 by 
€8.9 million.  This lead to a subsequent reduction in balance sheet provisions of €11.2 million at 31 December 2005. 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment. 

 
Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 

 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 

Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the disclosure 

of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including 
specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of sensitivity to 
market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, 
and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) 
introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages that capital.  The Fund has assessed 
the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main additional disclosures will be in relation 
to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 
January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the Fund currently 
comprises a single primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (Russian Federation) IFRS 8 is 
not expected to impact the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 
1 January 2009. 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting 

period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 

 
Changes in critical accounting policies, accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 
 
Fair valuation of unlisted share investments 
Prior to 2005, the Bank valued the Fund’s unlisted share investments at historic cost, less any provisions for 
impairment.  In 2005 the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the share investment portfolio as at 
1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005.  As a result of the assessment the Bank enhanced its valuation techniques so 
that unlisted equity could be measured at fair value. 
 
As fair value could not be reliably measured prior to 2005 it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for 
unlisted share investments.  At 1 January 2005 the Fund released portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment 
of share investments and specific provisions for the identified impairment of share investments, totalling € 1.7 
million, to reserves.  In addition the Fund restated all unlisted share investments to fair value resulting in an increase 
to the Fund’s reserves of € 9.0 million.  The total impact on the Fund’s opening reserves was a net increase of € 10.7 
million. 
 
iii   Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
 
  Loans  

Loans originated by the Fund are measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method less any provision for 
impairment or uncollectability. Loans are recognised at settlement date.   
 
Available-for-sale 
This category comprises the Fund’s non-associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the 
balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded through reserves, as disclosed in the “statement of changes in 
contributors’ resources”, until the financial asset is sold or determined to be impaired. At this time the cumulative 
profit or loss previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in the income statement. 

 
The basis of fair value for unlisted share investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the 
market and industry of each investment. Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 9 
analyses unlisted share investments.  

 
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 
Where the collectability of identified loans is in doubt, specific provisions for impairment are recognised in the 
income statement. Impairment is defined as the difference between the carrying value of the asset and the net present 
value of expected future cash flows determined using the instrument’s original effective interest rate, where 
applicable. The Bank’s Risk Management Vice Presidency reviews assets for impairment normally every six months. 
Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in the income statement over the life of the asset, and 
any adjustments required in respect of a reassessment of the initial impairment. 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Provisions for impairment of loan investments (continued) 
 
Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are calculated on 
a portfolio basis. The methodology used for assessing such impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for non- 
sovereign assets applied at the end of the month of disbursement. The effect of applying this methodology is 
considered to approximate to the calculation of impairment on a portfolio basis, being the difference between the 
carrying value of the groups of similar assets and the net present value of their expected future cash flows. 

 
 Impairment, as determined above, is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.  Provisioning of 

guaranteed parallel investments is determined under IAS 37 and is recognised when it is probable that the Fund will 
have to transfer amounts under the guarantee to the Bank and that these amounts can be reliably estimated.  

 
 Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement under the caption 

“Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees”, as summarised in note 6. When a loan is deemed 
uncollectable or there is no possibility of recovery of a share investment, the principal is written off against the 
related estimated impairment.  Subsequent recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously written off.    

 
Financial guarantees 
 
The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal losses of the Bank’s investments in which the Fund makes a 
parallel investment. The Fund receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and 
there are no preferential lending arrangements on behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  As there is no 
implied value of these guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.   
 

 Any subsequent provisioning is determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
upon consideration of objective evidence that the guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable 
that the guarantee will require to be settled and that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated.  Such provisions 
are included in “provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel investments” on the balance sheet. 
 
iv  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing 
financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in 
the income statement during the reporting period. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 
- fair value of available-for-sale share investments; and 
- provisions for impairment of loan investments.  
 
These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables which reflect the economic environment and financial 
markets of the Fund’s countries of operations but which are not directly correlated to market risks such as interest rate 
and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined with a lack of comparable information in relation to the 
Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply traditional sensitivity analysis methods. 
 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience. 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued)  
 

 v Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006.  Non-
monetary items are expressed in euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction.  Revenue and expense 
items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the date on which they occurred. 

 
 Exchange gains or losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to 

the income statement.   
 

 vi Interest and dividends 
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans 
through unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations applied to expected future cash flows.  
Dividends relating to share investments are recognised when received. 

 
 vii Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement 

by the Bank and a contributor. Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the 
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. 

 
 viii  Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

  
ix Taxation 
 In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  

 
  x  Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.  
Comparative figures have been restated where appropriate, as disclosed in “Significant changes in the financial 
statements”. 

 
4 Net (losses)/gains from available-for-sale share investments 

 2006 2005 
 € 000 € 000 
Net realised (losses)/gains from available-for-sale share investments (84) 11,109 

Impairment losses from available-for-sale share investments (99) (140)

Net (losses)/gains from available-for-sale share investments (183) 10,969 
 
5 Other operating expenses 
  
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund. Included in this amount is 

external auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100). 
 
6 Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees 

 

Loans Guarantees

 
Total 
2006 

  
 

Loans 

 
Restated 

Guarantees 

Restated 
Total 
2005 

(Release)/charge for the year € 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 € 000 € 000 

Portfolio provision for the unidentified impairment of assets:    

   Non-sovereign risk assets (673) - (673)  1,034 - 1,034

Specific provision for the identified impairment of assets:    

   Non-sovereign risk assets (111) 223 112  (3) (64) (67)

Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (784) 223 (561)  1,031 (64) 967
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
6 Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (continued) 
 

Loans
 

Guarantees 
Total
2006

  
 

Loans 

 
Restated 

Guarantees

Restated
Total
2005

Movement in provisions € 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 € 000 € 000

At 1 January 4,450 4,746 9,196  2,951 4,257 7,208

(Release)/charge for the year (784) 223 (561)  1,031 (64) 967

Foreign exchange adjustments (453) (482) (935)  468 553 1,021

Release against amounts written off (44) (74) (118)  - - -

Recovery of amounts previously written off 111 - 111  - - -

At 31 December 3,280 4,413 7,693  4,450 4,746 9,196
        

Analysed between:    

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of 
assets:   

   

   Non-sovereign risk assets 2,121 - 2,121  3,109 - 3,109
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of assets:    

   Non-sovereign risk assets 1,159 - 1,159  1,341 - 1,341

Deducted from assets 3,280 - 3,280  4,450 - 4,450

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
parallel investments - 4,413 4,413

  
- 

 
4,746 4,746

At 31 December 3,280 4,413 7,693  4,450 4,746 9,196

  
In accordance with Section 5.04 (i) of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund, the Fund will bear losses arising on 
investments financed by the Fund and parallel investments by the Bank up to a maximum aggregate amount of 
US$ 75.0 million.  Thereafter losses will be borne equally by the Fund and the Bank. 

 
7 Other assets 

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Interest receivable 378  291

At 31 December 378  291

 
8 Loan investments  
 

2006 2005 

 € 000 € 000 

At 1 January 31,443 16,878 

Disbursements 8,805 16,187 

Repayments and prepayments  (6,287) (4,491)

Write-offs (44) - 
Foreign exchange movements (3,003) 2,869 
At 31 December 30,914 31,443 

Impairment at 31 December (note 6) (3,280) (4,450)
Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December 27,634 26,993 

 
 All loan investments are for projects in the Russian Federation. 
  

At 31 December 2006 the Fund categorised two loans as impaired totalling €1.2 million (2005: three loans totalling 
€1.3 million).  Specific provisions on these assets amounted to €1.2 million (2005: €1.3 million).  
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
9 Share investments 
 

 
2006 

 Available-for-sale 
2005 

 Available-for-sale 

 
unlisted share 

investments 
unlisted share 

investments 
  € 000  € 000 
Outstanding disbursements  
At 1 January 1,268 4,583 
Disposals at cost (3) (3,315)

At 31 December 1,265 1,268
   
Fair value adjustment   
Opening balance (501) (1,704)
Transitional restatement of opening balances to fair value - 10,702 

At 1 January (501) 8,998 
Movement in fair value revaluation 493 (9,359)
Impairment losses on available-for-sale share investments (99) (140)

At 31 December (107) (501)

   
Fair value at 31 December 1,158 767 

 
10 Other liabilities 
 

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Audit fees payable 7  7

Legal fees payable -  48

At 31 December 7  55

 
11 Contributions 
 
 Contributions received from the donor countries are set out below: 
 

Total contributions 2006
€ 000

%  2005
€ 000

%

Canada 2,707 4.6  2,707 4.6

France 7,686 12.9  7,686 12.9

Germany 9,843 16.5  9,843 16.5

Italy 8,401 14.2  8,401 14.2

Japan 21,162 35.7  21,162 35.7

Switzerland 2,360 4.0  2,360 4.0

United States of America 7,192 12.1  7,192 12.1

At 31 December 59,351 100.0  59,351 100.0

 
12 Guarantees 
   
 At 31 December 2006, the Bank has outstanding loans and share investments amounting to €98.5 million, for which 

potential future losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded from the resources of the Fund (2005: €88.8 million).  
At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees is €64.0 million (2005: €60.9 million), 
of which €4.4 million (2005: €4.7 million) is disclosed as “provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel 
investments” on the balance sheet (note 6). The remainder is disclosed in undrawn commitments (note 13) as 
guarantees. 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
13 Undrawn commitments and guarantees 

  
 

2006 
 Restated

2005
 € 000  € 000

Loans 9,003  3,014

Guarantees 59,616  56,184

At 31 December  68,619  59,198

 
14 Net currency position 

  
  Russian United States

Euro roubles dollars Total

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 28 15 25,436 25,479

Other assets - 9 369 378

Loan investments - 649 30,265 30,914

Provisions for impairment - (149) (3,131) (3,280)

Available-for-sale share investments - - 1,158 1,158

Total assets 28 524 54,097 54,649

   
Liabilities     
Other liabilities (7) - - (7)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel investments - - (4,413) (4,413)

Total contributors’ resources - - (50,229) (50,229)

Total liabilities (7) - (54,642) (54,649)

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 21 509 (530) -

 
  Russian United States

Restated Euro roubles dollars Total

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 24 - 28,167 28,191

Other assets - - 291 291

Loan investments - - 31,443 31,443

Provisions for impairment - - (4,450) (4,450)

Available-for-sale share investments - - 767 767

Total assets 24 - 56,218 56,242

   
Liabilities     
Other liabilities (7) - (48) (55)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel investments - - (4,746) (4,746)

Total contributors’ resources - - (51,441) (51,441)

Total liabilities (7) - (56,235) (56,242)

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 17 - (17) -

 
The Fund uses the euro as the unit of measurement for the presentation of its financial statements but the activities of 
the Fund are denominated primarily in United States dollars (USD). The exchange rate used for the conversion of 
assets and liabilities denominated in USD into euro at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 
1.1830). 
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Liquidity position  
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributors’ resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date.  
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category. 
 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year   

 Up to and up to and and up to and and up to and  

 and including including including including Over Maturity 

 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years undefined Total 

Liquidity position at December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 25,479 - - - - - 25,479

Other assets 143 120 115 - - - 378

Loan investments 1,653 - 1,618 18,530 9,113 - 30,914

Provisions for impairment (1,163) - (352) (892) (873) - (3,280)

Available-for-sale share investments - - - - - 1,158 1,158

Total assets 26,112 120 1,381 17,638 8,240 1,158 54,649

     
Liabilities      
Other liabilities - (7) - - - - (7)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
parallel investments 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
    - (4,413) (4,413)

Total contributors’ resources - - - - - (50,229) (50,229)

Total liabilities  - (7) - - - (54,642) (54,649)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 26,112 113 1,381 17,638 8,240 (53,484) -

Cumulative net liquidity position  
at 31 December 2006 26,112 

 
26,225 

 
27,606 

 
45,244 

 
53,484 - -

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year   

 Up to and up to and and up to and and up to and  

 and including including including including Over Maturity  

Restated 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years undefined Total 

Liquidity position at December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 28,191 - - - - - 28,191

Other assets 133 47 111 - - - 291

Loan investments - 1,472 4,317 23,244 2,410 - 31,443

Provisions for impairment - (147) (534) (2,796) (973) - (4,450)

Available-for-sale share investments - - - - - 767 767

Total assets 28,324 1,372 3,894 20,448 1,437 767 56,242

     
Liabilities      
Other liabilities - (55) - - - - (55)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
parallel investments 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
    - (4,746) (4,746)

Total contributors’ resources - - - - - (51,441) (51,441)

Total liabilities  - (55) - - - (56,187) (56,242)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 28,324 1,317 3,894 20,448 1,437 (55,420) -

Cumulative net liquidity position  
at 31 December 2005 

 
28,324 

 
29,641 

 
33,535 

 
53,983 

 
55,420 - -
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
16 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
  

   Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year    

  Up to and up to and up to and up to Non-interest-  

  and including and including and including and including bearing  

  1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006  € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets     

Placements with credit institutions  25,479 - - - - 25,479 

Other assets  - - - - 378 378 

Loan investments  4,177 4,446 11,680 10,611 - 30,914 

Provisions for impairment  - - - - (3,280) (3,280)

Available-for-sale share investments  - - - - 1,158 1,158 

Total assets  29,656 4,446 11,680 10,611 (1,744) 54,649 

        
Liabilities         

Other liabilities  - - - - (7) (7)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
parallel investments 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(4,413) (4,413)

Total contributors’ resources  - - - - (50,229) (50,229)

Total liabilities   - - - - (54,649) (54,649)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 
2006 

29,656 4,446 11,680 10,611 (56,393) - 

  
  Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year  

  Up to and up to and up to and up to Non-interest-  

  and including and including and including and including bearing  

Restated   1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005  € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets     

Placements with credit institutions  28,191 - - - - 28,191 

Other assets  - - - - 291 291 

Loan investments  6,196 1,691 12,100 11,456 - 31,443 

Provisions for impairment  - - - - (4,450) (4,450)

Available-for-sale share investments  - - - - 767 767 

Total assets  34,387 1,691 12,100 11,456 (3,392) 56,242 

        
Liabilities         

Other liabilities  - - - - (55) (55)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
parallel investments 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(4,746) 

 
(4,746)

Total contributors’ resources  - - - - (51,441) (51,441)

Total liabilities   - - - - (56,242) (56,242)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 34,387 1,691 12,100 11,456 (59,634) - 

 
 The table below summaries the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
 

  

Euro
2006

Russian 
roubles

2006

United 
States 

dollars
2006

 
 

Euro 
2005 

 
Russian 
roubles 

2005

United States 
dollars 

2005

  % % % %

Assets        

Placements with credit institutions  2.77 - 4.98 1.99 - 3.20

Loans  - 10.92 8.08 - - 7.27
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The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
17 Segment information  
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment is 

geographical.  At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and one geographic region (Russian Federation).  Consequently, no additional disclosure is required. 

 
18  Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Russia Small Business Investment Special 
Fund for the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the 
balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash 
flows, the accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial 
statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
    

Statement of movements in fund balance  Year to   Year to

For the year ended 31 December 2006   31 December 2006   31 December 2005

  Note  € 000   € 000

Balance brought forward    7,757    8,357

Interest and similar income   294   281

   8,051   8,638

Disbursements  4  (2,029)  (2,274)

Other operating expenses  5  (4)  (4)

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain                          (902)                         1,397

Balance of fund available   5,116   7,757

      

      

Balance sheet   31 December   31 December
At 31 December 2006    2006    2005
  Note  € 000   € 000

Assets      

Placements with credit institutions   5,099   7,745

Other assets   21   16

Total assets   5,120   7,761

      

Liabilities and contributors’ resources      

Unallocated fund balance   1,025   3,237

Allocated fund balance  4  4,091   4,520

   5,116   7,757

Other liabilities   4   4

Total liabilities and contributors’ resources   5,120   7,761
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The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the 

Board of Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") at its 
meeting of 18 October 1993 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such 
Special Fund approved also by the Board on that date.  An amendment to the Rules and Regulations was approved 
by the Board on 14 July 1994 to change the denomination of the Fund from ECU to United States dollars.  The 
full-scale phase of The Russia Small Business Programme was approved by the Board at its meeting of 30 August 
1995 and a revised version of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund, in connection with the full-scale phase, was 
approved by the Board on 1 April 1996. 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective 

of the Fund is to finance technical cooperation for the design and implementation of the pilot, extended pilot and 
full-scale phase operations of The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund. 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

policies disclosed in note 3 below. 
 
3 Significant accounting policies 
 
 i Accounting convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.  Contributions and 
disbursements are accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income and operating expenses are accounted for on an 
accruals basis. 
 

 ii Foreign currencies 
Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than euro (€) are translated into euro at spot rates as at 
31 December 2006.  Transactions in currencies other than euro, including disbursements, are translated into euro 
at month-end exchange rates.  Commitments net of disbursements made, in currencies other than euro, are 
translated at spot rates as at 31 December 2006. 
 
Exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are 
taken to the statement of movements in fund balance.   

 
 iii Completed projects 

A project is defined as completed when all consultants involved have satisfied all contractual obligations and all 
invoices related to the project have been submitted for payment. 

 
On completion of a project any committed amounts not disbursed are reassigned to the unallocated fund balance. 
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The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
 
4 Allocated fund balance and disbursements 
 
 The allocated fund balance represents all commitments approved by the Bank under the terms of the Rules and 

Regulations net of cumulative disbursements. 
Commitments   Allocated fund

approved Disbursements  balance
€ 000 € 000  € 000

Projects in operation   
At 1 January 2006 9,013 4,493  4,520

Movement in the year (2,813) (2,384)  (429) 

At 31 December 2006 6,200 2,109  4,091

  

Completed projects   

At 1 January 2006 63,025 63,025  -

Movement in the year 4,413 4,413  -

At 31 December 2006 67,438 67,438  -

  

Total projects   

At 1 January 2006 72,038 67,518  4,520

Movement in the year 1,600 2,029                       (429) 

At 31 December 2006 73,638 69,547  4,091

 
 
5 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund.  Operating expenses 

borne by the Bank and eligible for recharge to the Fund also include external auditors’ remuneration of €3,720        
(2005: €3,532). 

 
 
6 Contributions  
 

No contributions were received during the year. 
 
Cumulative contributions received from Donor countries are set out below:   
      
 € 000  %

Canada 4,309                      7.1 

France 4,980                      8.2 

Germany 3,025                      5.0 

Italy 1,360                      2.2 

Japan 3,295                      5.4 

Switzerland 1,244                      2.1 

United Kingdom 12,824                   21.1 

United States of America  29,695                   48.9 

At 31 December 2006 60,732  100.0
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The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
7 Net currency position 

United States 

Euro Dollars Total

€ 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions - 5,099 5,099

Other assets - 21 21

Total assets - 5,120 5,120

 

Liabilities and contributors’ resources  

Unallocated fund balance - (1,025) (1,025)

Allocated fund balance               (336) (3,755) (4,091)

Other liabilities (4) - (4)

Total liabilities and contributors’ resources (340) (4,780) (5,120)

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 (340) 340 - 

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 (459) 459 - 

 
The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars into euro  
at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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Independent auditors' report to the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the 
‘Bank’) 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements of the Russia Small Business 
Technical Cooperation Special Fund which comprise the Statement of Movements in Fund Balance, the 
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2006, the related notes numbered 1 to 7 for the year then ended which 
have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in note 3.  These special purpose 
financial statements have been prepared solely to meet the terms of the Agreement of Cooperation between 
EBRD and the Contributors to the Fund. 
 
 
Responsibility of the President for the financial statements  
 
The President’s responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 
policies are set out in note 2 to the financial statements. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.  
 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying special purpose financial statements have been prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 3 to the financial statements. 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank and for the confidential use 
of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 



 
 
 

 6

assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

European Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

 
 

The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
 

Annual Financial Report  
31 December 2006 

 
 
 



 
 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
 
The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
 
Contents 

 
 
 
 
Statement of movements in fund balance 1 
 
Balance sheet 1 
 
Notes to the financial statements 2 - 3 
 
Independent auditors' report 4 - 5 
 



 
 
 

 1

 
 
 

The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
    

Statement of movements in fund balance  Year to   Year to

For the year ended 31 December 2006   31 December 2006   31 December 2005 

  Note  € 000   € 000

Balance brought forward   35   80

Interest and similar income   1   1

   36   81

Disbursements  5  (14)   (45)

Other operating expenses  6  (1)   (1)

Balance of fund available   21   35

      
      

Balance sheet   Year to   Year to

At 31 December 2006   31 December 2006   31 December 2005 

  Note  € 000   € 000

Assets      

Placements with credit institutions   18   35

Other assets   7   4

Total assets   25   39

      

Liabilities and contributors’ resources      

Unallocated fund balance   12   11

Allocated fund balance  5  9   24

   21   35

Other liabilities   4   4

Total liabilities and contributors’ resources   25   39

 
 
 
 



 

The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of 

Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) at its meeting of 
12/13 September 1995 and is administered under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund 
approved also by the Board on that date.  The Fund became active in June 1996, following the receipt of the first 
contribution. 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective 

of the Fund is to serve as a facility for financing technical cooperation projects in the Bank’s countries of 
operations. 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

policies disclosed in note 3 below. 
 
3 Significant accounting policies 
 

i Accounting convention  
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Contributions and 
disbursements are accounted for on a cash basis. Interest income and operating expenses are accounted for on an 
accruals basis. 
 
ii Foreign currencies  
Disbursements in currencies other than euro (€) are translated into euro at exchange rates ruling at the time of the 
transaction.  Commitments net of disbursements made, in currencies other than euro, are translated at spot rates as 
at 31 December 2006.   

 
 iii Completed projects  

A project is defined as completed when all consultants involved have satisfied all contractual obligations and all 
invoices related to the project have been submitted for payment. 
 
On completion of a project any committed amounts not disbursed are reassigned to the unallocated fund balance.  
 

4 Contributions 
 
No contributions were received during the year (2005: Nil). Contributions consist of direct payments by Donors 
and repayments of technical cooperation costs by beneficiaries.  In accordance with the Rules and Regulations of 
the Fund, repayments may only be received where Donors have signed a Contribution Agreement with the Bank.  
As at 31 December 2006, ten Donors have signed such an agreement as follows: 
 
Canada 
Finland 
Germany 
Ireland 
Israel 
Norway 
Portugal 
Sweden 
Switzerland 
United Kingdom 
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The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
5 Allocated fund balance and disbursements 
 

The allocated fund balance represents all commitments approved by the Bank under the terms of the Fund 
Agreement net of cumulative disbursements. 

 Commitments  Allocated fund
approved Disbursements  balance

€ 000 € 000  € 000
Projects in operation    
At 1 January 2006 72 48  24

Movement in the year  (22) (7)     (15)

At 31 December 2006 50 41  9

   
Completed projects    
At 1 January 2006 1,004 1,004  -

Movement in the year  21 21  -

At 31 December 2006 1,025 1,025  -

    
Total projects    
At 1 January 2006 1,076 1,052  24

Movement in the year  (1) 14  (15)

At 31 December 2006 1,075 1,066  9

 
6 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund and include fees payable 

to the Bank for operating the Fund.  The fee is set at a level such that it should not exceed interest income net of 
direct costs. Operating expenses borne by the Bank and eligible for recharge to the Fund also include external 
auditors’ remuneration of € 3,720 (2005: € 3,532). 

 
7 Net currency position 

 United States

Euro dollars Total

€ 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 18                   - 18

Other assets 7                   - 7

Total assets 25                   - 25

 

Liabilities  

Unallocated fund balance                  (12)                -              (12) 

Allocated fund balance                    (2)               (7)                (9) 

Other liabilities                    (4)                 -               (4) 

Total liabilities                  (18)               (7)              (25) 

 

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 7 (7) -

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 7 (7) -

 
Exchange rates used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into euro at  
31 December 2006, where appropriate, were as follows: 
 

At 31 December  2006  2005 
United States dollars  1.3168  1.1830 
Sterling  0.6716  0.6867 
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Independent auditors' report to the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements of the EBRD 
Technical Cooperation Special Fund which comprise the Statement of Movements in Fund 
Balance, the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2006 and the related notes numbered 1 to 7 for 
the year then ended which have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies 
disclosed in note 3.  These special purpose financial statements have been prepared solely to 
meet the terms of the Agreement of Cooperation between EBRD and the Contributors to the 
Fund. 
 
Responsibility of the President for the financial statements  
 
The President’s responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with the 
accounting policies are set out in note 2 to the financial statements. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing issued by the 
International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Those Standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying special purpose financial statements have been prepared, in 
all material respects, in accordance with the accounting policies as set out in note 3 to the 
financial statements. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
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person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
 

 5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

European Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

 
 

The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
 

Annual Financial Report 
31 December 2006 

 
 



 

 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
 
The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
 
Contents 

 
 
 
 
Income statement 1 
 
Balance sheet 1 
 
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources 2 
 
Statement of cash flows 2 
 
Notes to the financial statements 3 - 13 
 
Independent auditors’ report 14 - 15 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 1

The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund

Income statement  Year to Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006  31 December 2006 31 December 2005 
Note € 000 € 000 

Interest and similar income   

   From loans 687                 439                 

   Other interest 558                 318                 

Fee income 4 36                   105                 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (1,104) 1,128              

Net income refunded to contributors (442) -

Other operating expenses 5 (76) (320)

Operating (loss)/profit before provisions (341) 1,670              

Provisions for impairment of loan investments 6 (92) (705)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (433) 965                 

Restated 

Balance sheet  31 December  31 December 

At 31 December 2006 2006 2005 
Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 20,197            17,579            

Other assets 7 529                 360                 

Loan investments
   Loans 8 8,040              8,645              

   Less: Provisions for impairment 6 (1,178) (1,573)

6,862              7,072              

Share investments
   Available-for-sale share investments 9 468                 540                 

Total assets 28,056            25,551            

Liabilities
Other liabilities 11 197                 385                 

Contributions 12 29,096            26,203            

Reserves and retained earnings (1,237) (1,037)

Total contributors’ resources 27,859            25,166            

Total liabilities 28,056            25,551            
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund

Restated 

Statement of cash flows Year to              Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 31 December 

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating (loss)/profit for the year (433) 965                  

Adjustment for:
   Provisions for impairment of loan investments 92                    705                  

   Unwinding of the discount relating to the identified 
      impairment of loans - (24)

   Foreign exchange 1,104               (1,128)

Operating profit before changes in operating assets 763                  518                  

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
   Interest and fee income receivable and prepaid expenses (169) (285)

   Proceeds from repayment of loans 842                  386                  

   Funds advanced for loans (1,233) (4,048)

   Proceeds from sale of share investments 305                  -

(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities:
    Accrued expenses (188) 362                  

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 320                  (3,067)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net contributions received 2,893               6,526               

Net cash from financing activities 2,893               6,526               

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,213               3,459               

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17,579             13,540             

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (595) 580                  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 20,197             17,579              
 
 
 
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources  

For the year ended 31 December 2006 Accumulated 
Contributions General reserve loss                    Total 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
At 31 December 2004 19,677                     - (1,980) 17,697                      

Transitional restatement of opening balances for fair value 
 of share investments - 76                             - 76                             

At 1 January 2005 19,677                     76                             (1,980) 17,773                      

Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share
 investments for the year - (98) - (98)

Net contributions received 6,526                       - - 6,526                        

Net profit for the year - - 965                           965                           

At 31 December 2005 26,203                     (22) (1,015) 25,166                      

Net contributions received 2,893                       - - 2,893                        

Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share
 investments for the year - 233                           - 233                           

Net loss for the year - - (433) (433)

At 31 December 2006 29,096                     211                           (1,448) 27,859                       
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of 

Directors ("the Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") at its meeting of 
16 December 1996 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund 
approved by the Board on that date. The Fund became operational on 22 May 1997 following the receipt of the first 
contributions. 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to support financial intermediaries in the Bank's countries of operations. 
 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of 
the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. 

 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently 

measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure 
required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.  The Fund has retrospectively applied this Amendment 
and the effect of the restatement was to increase both other assets and other liabilities by €45,000 at 
31 December 2005 to reflect guarantee fees receivable and deferred income from financial guarantees.  The 
recognition of the present value of the fees receivable has no impact on the financial statements. 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment. 
 

Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 
 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of 
sensitivity to market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and 
Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages 
that capital.  The Fund has assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main 
additional disclosures will be in relation to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 
(Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  The Fund has 
assessed the impact of IFRS 8 and concluded that it is not expected to impact the operating segments of the Fund 
and that the main additional disclosures will be in relation to the determination and measurement of the Fund’s 
operating segments.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s 

accounting period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Changes in critical accounting policies, accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 
 
Fair valuation of unlisted share investments 
Prior to 2005, the Bank valued the Fund’s unlisted share investments at historic cost, less any provisions for 
impairment.  In 2005 the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the share investment portfolio as at 
1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005.  As a result of the assessment the Bank enhanced its valuation techniques 
so that unlisted equity could be measured at fair value. 
 
As fair value could not be reliably measured prior to 2005 it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for 
unlisted share investments.  At 1 January 2005 the Fund released portfolio provisions for the unidentified 
impairment of share investments and specific provisions for the identified impairment of share investments, 
totalling € 704,000, to reserves.  In addition the Fund restated all unlisted share investments to fair value resulting in 
a decrease to the Fund’s reserves of € 628,000.  The total impact on the Fund’s opening reserves was a net increase 
of € 76,000. 
 
iii Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
Loans 
Loans originated by the Fund are measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method less any provision for 
impairment or uncollectibility. Loans are recognised at settlement date. 
 
Available-for-sale 
This category comprises the Fund’s non-associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the 
balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded through reserves, as disclosed in the “statement of changes in 
contributors’ resources”, until the financial asset is sold or determined to be impaired. At this time the cumulative 
profit or loss previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in the income statement. 

 
The basis of fair value for unlisted share investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the 
market and industry of each investment. Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 
10 analyses unlisted share investments. 
 
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are 
recognised in the income statement.  Impairment is defined as the difference between the carrying value of the asset 
and the net present value of expected future cash flows, determined using the instrument’s original effective interest 
rate where applicable. The Bank’s Risk Management Vice Presidency normally reviews assets for impairment every 
six months, and sometimes more frequently. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in the 
income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a reassessment of the initial 
impairment. 
 

 Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are calculated 
on a portfolio basis.  The methodology used for assessing such impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for 
non-sovereign assets applied in the month of disbursement.  The effect of applying the Fund’s methodology is 
considered to approximate to the calculation of impairment on an incurred loss basis, being the difference between 
the carrying value of the groups of similar assets and the net present value of their expected future cash flows.  
Impairment is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet. 

  
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement under the caption 
“provisions for impairment of loan investments”, as summarised in note 6. When a loan is deemed uncollectable the 
principal is written off against the related estimated impairment.  Subsequent recoveries are credited to the income 
statement if previously written off.  
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Financial guarantees 
Issued financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently measured at the higher of 
the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure required to settle the 
commitment at the balance sheet date.  The latter is determined upon consideration of objective evidence that the 
guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable that the guarantee will require to be settled and that 
the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. 
 
iv  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing 
financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in 
the income statement during the reporting period. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 
- fair value of available-for-sale share investments; and 
- provisions for impairment of loan investments.  
 
These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables which reflect the economic environment and 
financial markets of the Fund’s countries of operations but which are not directly correlated to market risks such as 
interest rate and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined with a lack of comparable information in 
relation to the Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply traditional sensitivity analysis methods. 
 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience. 
 

 v  Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006.  
Non-monetary items are expressed in euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Revenue and 
expense items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the date on which they occurred.  Exchange gains or 
losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to the income 
statement. 

 
 vi Interest, fees and commissions and dividends 

Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans 
through unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations applied to expected future cash flows. 

 
Commitment fees are deferred in accordance with IAS 18, together with the related direct costs of originating and 
maintaining the commitment, and are recognised in interest income over the period from disbursement to repayment 
of the related loan. If the commitment expires without the loan being drawn down, the fee is recognised as income 
on expiry. 
 
Dividends relating to share investments are recognised when received. 
 

 vii Contributions 
 Contributions are disclosed as receivable on the date of signature of a contribution agreement by the Bank and a 

contributor. Contributions received are translated into euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the 
transaction. Outstanding contributions are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006. 

 
 viii Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.  
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

ix  Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
 

 x Comparatives 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year. 
 

4 Fee income 
 2006  2005 
 € 000  € 000 
Guarantee fees 36  104 
Other -  1 
Total fee income 36  105 

 
5 Other operating expenses 

 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and include fees payable to 

the Bank for operating the Fund, calculated in accordance with contribution agreements. External auditors’ 
remuneration in respect of the Fund is borne by the Bank. 

 
6 Provisions for impairment of loan investments 

   
 2006  2005 

Charge for the year € 000  € 000 

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loan investments:    

   Non-sovereign risk assets 176  551 
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loan investments:   

   Non-sovereign risk assets (84)  154 

Provisions for impairment of loan investments 92  705 

 
 2006  2005 

Movement in provisions € 000  € 000 

At 1 January 1,573  968 

Charge for the year 92  705 

Unwinding of the discount relating to the identified impairment of loans 1 -  (24) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (106)  74 

Release against amounts written off (381)  (150) 

At 31 December 1,178  1,573 

   
Analysed between:   

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of loans:   

   Non-sovereign risk assets 1,178  1,108 

Specific provisions for the identified impairment of loans:   

   Non-sovereign risk assets -  465 

Deducted from assets at 31 December 1,178  1,573 
    

1 Included in interest income in 2005 is €24,000 relating to the unwinding of the net present value discount. 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
7 Other assets  

   Restated 
 2006  2005 
 € 000  € 000 
Interest receivable 281  209 
Fee income receivable 248  149 
Other -  2 
At 31 December 529  360 

 
8 Loan investments 

 2006  2005 

  € 000  € 000 

At 1 January  8,645  4,511 

Disbursements during the year  1,233  4,048 

Repayments and prepayments (842)  (386)

Foreign exchange movements  (615)  622 

Written off  (381)  (150)

At 31 December  8,040  8,645 

Impairment at 31 December (note 6)  (1,178)  (1,573)

 
Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December 6,862 

 
7,072 

   
Undrawn commitments    
At 31 December   759  719 

 

 
9 Share investments 

 Available-for-sale  Available-for-sale 

 unlisted share  unlisted share 

 investments  investments 

 2006  2005 

Outstanding disbursements € 000  € 000 

At 1 January 1,266  1,266 

Disposals at cost (305)  - 

Written off (430)  - 

At 31 December 531  1,266 

   

Fair value adjustment   

Opening balance (726)  (704) 

Transitional restatement of opening balances to fair value -  76 

At 1 January (726)  (628) 

Movement in fair value revaluation 233  (98) 

Impairment 430  - 

At 31 December (63)  (726) 

 
Fair value at 31 December 468 

 
540 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
10 Analysis of operational activity 

Outstanding Outstanding Undrawn  Undrawn
disbursements disbursements commitments  commitments

 2006 2005 2006  2005

Analysis by country € 000 € 000 € 000  € 000

Azerbaijan 537 773 -  -

Georgia 2,279 2,536 -  -

Kyrgyz Republic 2,620 2,325 -  507

Lithuania - 1,131 -  -

Moldova 152 - -  212

Romania 2,310 2,310 -  -

Slovenia 531 836 -  -

Tajikistan 142 - -  -

Ukraine - - 759  -

At 31 December 8,571 9,911 759  719

  
 Outstanding disbursements are shown before provisions for impairments for loan investments and before fair value 

adjustments for share investments. 
 
11 Other liabilities  
 

   Restated
 2006  2005
 € 000  € 000

Deferred income from financial guarantees 108  45 
Management fee payable 76  305 
Interest refundable 13  35 
At 31 December 197  385 

 
12 Contributions 
 
 Contributions received and receivable from the donor countries are set out below: 
 

 Executing  2006  2005

 Agency € 000            € 000

Cumulative contributions received   

Netherlands - 9,500  9,500

Taipei China ICDF 18,749  14,987

United States of America USAID 847  1,716

  29,096  26,203

Contributions receivable    
Taipei China ICDF 4,556  5,072

 4,556  5,072

At 31 December 33,652  31,275

 
 Executing  2006 2006  2005 2005
Total contributions Agency € 000                 %  € 000                 %

Netherlands - 9,500 28.2  9,500 30.4

Taipei China ICDF 23,305 69.3  20,059 64.1

United States of America USAID 847 2.5  1,716 5.5

At 31 December 33,652 100.0  31,275 100.0

 
  ICDF is an acronym for the International Cooperation and Development Fund of Taipei China. USAID is an 

acronym for the United States Agency for International Development. 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
13 Net currency position 

 

             
 
  

Euro 

 
 

United States 
 dollars 

 
 

Other 
currencies 

   
 

Total 
Net currency position at 31 December 2006     € 000 € 000 € 000        € 000 
Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 10,347 9,850 - 20,197 
Other assets 190 339 - 529 
Loans 2,310 5,730 - 8,040 
Provisions for impairment (66) (1,112) - (1,178) 
Share investments - - 468 468 
Total assets 12,781 14,807 468 28,056 

  
Liabilities   
Other liabilities (108) (89) - (197) 
Total contributors’ resources - (27,859) - (27,859) 
Total liabilities  (108) (27,948) - (28,056) 

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 12,673 (13,141) 468 -  

 

Restated 

             
 
 

 Euro 

 
 

United States 
dollars 

 
 

Other 
currencies 

   
 

Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2005     € 000 € 000 € 000        € 000 

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 9,891 7,688 - 17,579 
Other assets 204 156 - 360 
Loans 3,012 5,633 - 8,645 
Provisions for impairment (535) (1,038) - (1,573) 
Share investments - - 540 540 
Total assets 12,572 12,439 540 25,551 

  
Liabilities   
Other liabilities (282) (103) - (385) 
Total contributors’ resources - (25,166) - (25,166) 
Total liabilities  (282) (25,269) - (25,551) 

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 12,290 (12,830) 540 -  

 
The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars into euro at  
31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
14 Liquidity position 
 
The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributors’ resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. Those assets and liabilities that do not have a 
contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity undefined” category. 
 

Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year  
 Up to and up to and up to and up to  

 and including and including and including and including Maturity 

 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years     undefined Total
Liquidity position at  31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 20,197 - - - - 20,197 
Other assets 182 189 85 73 - 529 
Loans - - 347 7,693 - 8,040 
Provisions for impairment - - (10) (1,168) - (1,178)
Share investments - - - - 468 468 
Total assets 20,379 189 432 6,588 468 28,056 

  
Liabilities    
Other liabilities - (83) (52) (62) - (197)
Total contributors’ resources - - - - (27,859) (27,859)
Total liabilities  - (83) (52) (62) (27,859) (28,056)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 20,379 106 380 6,526 (27,391) - 

Cumulative net liquidity position  
at 31 December 2006 20,379 20,485 20,865 

 
27,391 

 
- - 

 
Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year  

Up to and up to and up to and up to  

 and including and including and including and including Maturity 

Restated 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years     undefined Total
Liquidity position at  31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 17,579 - - - - 17,579
Other assets 72 66 197 25 - 360
Loans - - - 8,645 - 8,645
Provisions for impairment - - - (1,573) - (1,573)
Share investments - - - - 540 540
Total assets 17,651 66 197 7,097 540 25,551

  
Liabilities    
Other liabilities (1) (311) (62) (11) - (385)
Total contributors’ resources - - - - (25,166) (25,166)
Total liabilities  (1) (311) (62) (11) (25,166) (25,551)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 17,650 (245) 135 7,086 (24,626) -

Cumulative net liquidity position  
at 31 December 2005 17,650 17,405 17,540 

 
24,626 

 
- -
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summarises the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 
 

Over 1 month Over 3 months  
Up to and up to and up to Non-interest- 

and including and including and including bearing 
 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total
Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 20,197 - - - 20,197

Other assets - - -   529 529

Loans 1,671 2,611 3,758 - 8,040

Provisions for impairment - - - (1,178) (1,178)

Share investments - - - 468 468

Total assets 21,868 2,611 3,758 (181) 28,056

  
Liabilities   

Other liabilities - - - (197) (197)

Total contributors’ resources - - - (27,859) (27,859)

Total liabilities  - - - (28,056) (28,056)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 21,868 2,611 3,758 (28,237) -

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months  
  Up to and up to and up to Non-interest- 

and including and including and including bearing 

Restated 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 17,579 - - - 17,579

Other assets - - -   360 360

Loans 1,268 2,536 4,841 - 8,645

Provisions for impairment - - - (1,573) (1,573)

Share investments - - - 540 540

Total assets 18,847 2,536 4,841 (673) 25,551

  
Liabilities   

Other liabilities - - - (385) (385)

Total contributors' resources - - - (25,166) (25,166)

Total liabilities  - - - (25,551) (25,551)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 18,847 2,536 4,841 (26,224) -

 
 The table below summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
 

 United  United

 Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

 2006 2006 2005 2005

 % % % %

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions 2.76 3.78 1.99 2.84

Loans 6.54 9.77 5.47 8.33
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The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
16 Guarantees 
 

At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding guarantees under the Trade Facilitation Programme for which, in 
the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank will be refunded in part from the resources of the Fund.  
At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was €13.2 million (2005: €6.7 
million).  No provisions have been recognised against this exposure. 
 

   

Analysis by country 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Armenia 370  506

Azerbaijan 111  -

Georgia 8,230  5,000

Moldova 900  1,163

Russian Federation 744  -

Ukraine 2,866  -

At 31 December 13,221  6,669

 
17 Undrawn commitments and guarantees 
 

 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Loans 759  719

Guarantees 13,221  6,669

At 31 December 13,980  7,388

 
18 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair value. 
 
19 Segment information 
 

 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business segment and the secondary segment is 
geographical. At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and eight countries as disclosed in notes 10 and 16.  Consequently, no additional disclosure is required. 

 
20 Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Financial Intermediary Investment Special 
Fund for the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the 
balance sheet, the statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash 
flows, the accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial 
statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund

Income statement  Year to Year to 
For the year ended 31 December 2006  31 December 2006 31 December 2005 

Note € 000 € 000 
Interest and similar income    
   From loans 248              321              
   Other interest 605              395              
Net (losses)/gains from share investments at fair value 4 (29) 714              
through profit or loss
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (328) 834              
Other operating expenses 5 (7) (7)
Operating profit before provisions  489              2,257           
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 6 217              158              
and guarantees
Net profit for the year  706              2,415           

Balance sheet  31 December  31 December
At 31 December 2006 2006 2005 

Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 22,414         19,412         
Other assets 7 179              150              

Loan investments
  Loans 8 2,105           4,510           
  Less: Provisions for impairment 6 (569) (1,372)

1,536           3,138           

Share investments
  Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 9 522              733              
Total assets 24,651         23,433         

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities 10 7                  7                  
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel
   investments 6 2,306           1,794           
Total liabilities 2,313           1,801           

Contributions 11 21,915         21,915         
Reserves and retained earnings 423              (283)
Total contributor’s resources 22,338         21,632         

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources 24,651         23,433         
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The Italian Investment Special Fund

Statement of changes in contributor’s resources  
For the year ended 31 December 2006 General Accumulated 

Contributions reserve           loss                Total 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
At 31 December 2004 21,935            - (3,353) 18,582        
Transitional restatement of opening balances for fair value of share - 655                 - 655             
investments
At 1 January 2005 21,935            655                 (3,353) 19,237        
Contributions refunded (20) - - (20)
Profit for the year - - 2,415              2,415          
At 31 December 2005 21,915            655                 (938) 21,632        
Profit for the year - - 706                 706             
At 31 December 2006 21,915            655                 (232) 22,338        

Statement of cash flows Year to Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 31 December 

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year 706                 2,415              
Adjustment for:
   Net losses/(gains) from share investments at fair value through
        profit or loss 29                   (714)
   Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees (217) (158)
   Foreign exchange 328                 (834)
Net profit before changes in operating assets 846                 709                 
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
    Interest receivable (29) 10                   
    Funds advanced for loans (1,632) (1,482)
    Proceeds from repayment of loans 4,037              4,635              
    Proceeds from sale of share investments 182                 636                 
Decrease in operating liabilities
    Accrued expenses -                     (128)
Net cash from operating activities 3,404              4,380          
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions refunded -                     (20)
Net cash from financing activities -                      (20)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,404              4,360          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 19,412            14,218        
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (402) 834             
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22,414            19,412        
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 

 The creation of The Italian Investment Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of Directors ("the 
Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") at its meeting of 15/16 September 
1998 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved by 
the Board on that date.  The Fund became operational on 19 January 2000 following the receipt of the first 
contribution.  

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the agreement establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to assist the modernisation, restructuring, expansion and development of small and medium size 
enterprises in certain countries of operations of the Bank. 

 
 The Fund is separated into five Sub-Accounts: The Albania Reconstruction Equity Fund Sub-Account (“AREF”), 

The Bosnia and Herzegovina SME Framework Sub-Account (“BiH SME”), The Kosovo Reconstruction Equity 
Fund Sub-Account (“KREF”), The Serbia and Montenegro Risk Sharing Facility (“S&M RSF”) and The Western 
Balkans Local Enterprise Facility (“WB LEF”). 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of 
the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently 

measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure 
required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.  The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal 
losses of the Bank’s investments in which the Fund makes a parallel investment.  In the case of share investments, 
the Fund also guarantees a preferential rate of return to the Bank up to a particular hurdle rate.  The Fund receives 
no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and there are no preferential lending 
arrangements on behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  As there is no implied value of these guarantees 
to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.  Any subsequent provisioning is determined under 
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option 
 This amendment permits the irrevocable designation on initial recognition of financial instruments that meet certain 

conditions as ones to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  The conditions that are required to be met 
under the amendment are where such designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, when 
a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and when an instrument 
contains an embedded derivative that meets particular conditions.  From 1 January 2005 the Fund has designated its 
associate share investments and high-risk equity funds at fair value through profit or loss as the performance of 
these assets is managed on a fair value basis in accordance with the Bank’s risk management and accounting 
policies. 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment. 
 

Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 
 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of 
sensitivity to market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and 
Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages 
that capital.  The Fund has assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main 
additional disclosures will be in relation to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 
(Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 2007. 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 
 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 

segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  The Fund has 
assessed the impact of IFRS 8 and concluded that it is not expected to impact the operating segments of the Fund 
and that the main additional disclosures will be in relation to the determination and measurement of the Fund’s 
operating segments.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s 

accounting period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 

 
Changes in critical accounting policies, accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 
 
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates (IAS 28 Revised 2005) 
Prior to 2005 all share investments were accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets as the Fund did not 
issue consolidated financial statements under the requirements of the previous IAS 28.  As of 1 January 2005, the 
Fund applied the exemption for venture capital organisations under IAS 28 Revised 2005.  This permitted the Fund 
to designate share investments, previously held as available-for-sale, as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss.  The Fund has chosen to designate all high risk equity fund share investments as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss with changes in fair value included in the income statement. 
 
Prior to 2005 the Bank could not reliably measure the fair value of the Fund’s unlisted share investments and as 
such it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted associate share investments. 
 
Fair valuation of unlisted share investments 
Prior to 2005, the Bank valued the Fund's unlisted share investments at historic cost, less any provisions for 
impairment.  In 2005 the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the share investment portfolio as at 1 
January 2005 and 31 December 2005.  As a result of the assessment the Bank enhanced its valuation techniques so 
that unlisted equity could be measured at fair value. 
 
As fair value could not be reliably measured prior to 2005 it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for 
unlisted share investments.  At 1 January 2005 the Fund released specific provisions for the identified impairment 
of share investments, totalling € 2,031,000, to reserves.  In addition the Fund restated all unlisted share investments 
to fair value resulting in a reduction to the Fund’s reserves of € 1,376,000.  The total impact on the Fund’s opening 
reserves was a net increase of € 655,000. 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
iii Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
 
Loan investments 
Loans originated by the Fund are measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method less any provision for 
impairment or uncollectibility. Loans are recognised at settlement date. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
This category comprises the Fund’s high risk equity fund share investments.  Such assets are measured at fair value 
on the balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded in the income statement.  The basis of fair value for 
unlisted share investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each 
investment. Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 10 analyses unlisted share 
investments. 
 

 Provisions for impairment of loan investments 
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are 
recognised in the income statement.  Impairment is defined as the difference between the carrying value of the asset 
and the net present value of expected future cash flows, determined using the instrument’s original effective interest 
rate where applicable. The Bank’s Risk Management Vice Presidency normally reviews assets for impairment 
every six months, and sometimes more frequently. Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in 
the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a reassessment of the 
initial impairment. 

 
 Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are calculated 

on a portfolio basis.  The methodology used for assessing such impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for 
non-sovereign assets applied in the month of disbursement.  The effect of applying the Fund’s methodology is 
considered to approximate to the calculation of impairment on an incurred loss basis, being the difference between 
the carrying value of the groups of similar assets and the net present value of their expected future cash flows.  
Impairment, as determined above, is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet. 

 
Impairment, less any amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement under the caption 
“provisions for impairment of loan investments”, as summarised in note 6. When a loan is deemed uncollectable the 
principal is written off against the related estimated impairment.  Subsequent recoveries are credited to the income 
statement if previously written off.  
 
Financial guarantees 
The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal losses of the Bank’s investments in which the Fund makes a 
parallel investment.  In the case of share investments, the Fund also guarantees a preferential rate of return to the 
Bank up to a particular hurdle rate.  The Fund receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees 
are received and there are no preferential lending arrangements on behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  
As there is no implied value of these guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.   
 

 Any subsequent provisioning is determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
upon consideration of objective evidence that the guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable 
that the guarantee will require to be settled and that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated.  Such 
provisions are included in “provisions for impairment of guaranteed parallel investments” on the balance sheet. 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
 iv Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing 
financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in 
the income statement during the reporting period. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 
- fair value of available-for-sale share investments and share investments at fair value through profit or loss; and 
- provisions for impairment of loan investments.  
 
These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables which reflect the economic environment and 
financial markets of the Fund’s countries of operations but which are not directly correlated to market risks such as 
interest rate and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined with a lack of comparable information in 
relation to the Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply traditional sensitivity analysis methods. 
 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience. 

 
 v Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006.  
Non-monetary items are expressed in euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Revenue and 
expense items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the date on which they occurred.  Exchange gains or 
losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to the income 
statement. 
 

 vi Interest, fees, commissions and dividends 
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans 
through unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations applied to expected future cash flows. 

 
Commitment fees are deferred in accordance with IAS 18, together with the related direct costs of originating and 
maintaining the commitment, and are recognised in interest income over the period from disbursement to 
repayment of the related loan. If the commitment expires without the loan being drawn down, the fee is recognised 
as income on expiry. 
 
Dividends relating to share investments are recognised when received. 
 

 vii Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement 

by the Bank and a contributor.  Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the 
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. 

 
 viii Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 
ix Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the agreement establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
 x Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year. 
 

4 Net (losses)/gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss
2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 

Net unrealised (losses)/gains from associate share investments (29) 714                  

Net (losses)/gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss (29) 714                   
 
5 Other operating expenses 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly related to the Fund and includes external 

auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100). 
 
6 Provisions for impairment of loan investments and guarantees

Total Total 
Loans Guarantees 2006 Loans Guarantees 2005 

(Release)/charge for the year € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 00

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment
of assets
   Non-sovereign risk assets (803) -                (803) 447           -                447           
Specific provisions for the identified impairment of
assets:
   Non-sovereign risk assets -                586           586           -                (605) (605)
Provisions for impairment of loan investments (803) 586           (217) 447           (605) (158)
and guarantees

Total Total 
Loans Guarantees 2006 Loans Guarantees 2005 

Movement in provisions € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 00

At 1 January 1,372        1,794        3,166        925           2,399        3,324        
(Release)/charge for the year (803) 586           (217) 447           (605) (158)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes -                (74) (74) -                -                -                
At 31 December 569           2,306        2,875        1,372        1,794        3,166        

Analysed between:
Portfolio provision for the unidentified
impairment of assets:
   Non-sovereign risk assets 569           -                569           1,372        -                1,372        
Deducted from assets 569           -                569           1,372        -                1,372        
Provisions for impairment of
guaranteed parallel investments -                2,306        2,306        -                1,794        1,794        
At 31 December 569           2,306        2,875        1,372        1,794        3,166        

0 

0 

 
 
7 Other assets

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 
Interest receivable on placements 166            88               
Interest receivable on loans 13              62               
At 31 Decemeber 179            150              
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
8 Loan investments

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 

At 1 January 4,510         7,663          
Disbursements 1,632         1,482          
Repayments and prepayments (4,037) (4,635)
At 31 December 2,105         4,510          
Impairment at 31 December  (note 6) (569) (1,372)
Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December 1,536         3,138          

Undrawn commitments
At 31 December 1,080         1,613           

 
   Loans are for projects in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia, Montenegro and the Western Balkans. 
 
9 Share investments at fair value through profit or loss

Operating assets € 000 
At 1 January 2005 2,031          
Disposals at cost (636)
At 1 January 2006 1,395          
Disposals at cost (182)
At 31 December 2006 1,213          

Fair value adjustment € 000 
At 1 January 2005 (1,376)
Movement in fair value revaluation 714             
At 1 January 2006 (662)
Movement in fair value revaluation (29)
At 31 December 2006 (691)

Fair value at 31 December 2006 522             
Fair value at 31 December 2005 733             

Undrawn commitments
At 31 December 2006 -                  
At 31 December 2005 2                  

 
  Share investments are for projects in Albania and Kosovo. 
 
10 Other liabilities

2006 2005 

  € 000 € 000 

Audit fees payable 7                 7                   
At 31 December 7                 7                    
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
11 Contibutions

Contributions received from the Italian Government are set out below:
2006 2005 

Sub-Account € 000 € 000 
AREF 701             6,035            
BiH SME 5,400          5,400            
KREF 1,980          1,980            
S&M RSF 4,500          8,500            
WB LEF 9,334          -                    
At 31 December 21,915        21,915           

 
On 5 April 2006 the Contributor pledged €10,000,000 to be financed from the resources of the S&M RSF and 
AREF subaccounts when they become available. As at 31 December 2006 contributions of €4,000,000 and 
€5,334,000 had been transferred to the WB LEF from S&M RSF and AREF respectively. 

 
12 Net currency position

  United States Other
Euro dollars currencies Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 20,755          1,659            -                    22,414          
Other assets 172               7                   -                    179               
Loans 2,105            -                    -                    2,105            
Provisions for impairment of loan investments (569) -                    -                    (569)
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss -                    -                    522               522               
Total assets 22,463          1,666            522               24,651          

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities (7) -                    -                    (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
  parallel investments (1,480) (826) -                    (2,306)
Total contributor’s resources (21,427) (911) -                    (22,338)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (22,914) (1,737) -                    (24,651)
Net currency position at 31 December 2006 (451) (71) 522               -                     
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
12  Net currency position (continued) 

  United States Other
Euro dollars currencies Total

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 12,597          6,815            - 19,412          
Other assets 129               21                 - 150               
Loans 4,510            - - 4,510            
Provisions for impairment of loan investments (1,372) - - (1,372)
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss - - 733               733               
Total assets 15,864          6,836            733               23,433          

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities (7) - - (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
  parallel investments (1,060) (734) - (1,794)
Total contributor’s resources (15,300) (6,332) - (21,632)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (16,367) (7,066) - (23,433)
Net currency position at 31 December 2005 (503) (230) 733               -  

 
The Fund uses the euro as the unit of measurement for the presentation of its financial statements but the activities 
and resources of the AREF are denominated in United States dollars. The exchange rate used for the conversion of 
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars into euro at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 
1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
 

13 Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributor’s resources into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented 
under the most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible 
repayment date is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category.  
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
13 Liquidity position (continued) 

 
Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

Up to and up to and up to and up to 

and including and including and including and including Maturity 
1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 22,414        -                  -                  -                  -                  22,414        
Other assets 168             2                 9                 -                  -                  179             
Loans -                  85               -                  450             1,570          2,105          
Provisions for impairment of loan investments -                  (4) -                  (130) (435) (569)
Share investments at fair value through profit
  or loss -                  -                  -                  -                  522             522             
Total assets 22,582        83               9                 320             1,657          24,651        

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities -                  (7) -                  -                  -                  (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
  parallel investments -                  -                  -                  -                  (2,306) (2,306)
Total contributor’s resources -                  -                  -                  -                  (22,338) (22,338)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources -                  (7) -                  -                  (24,644) (24,651)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 22,582        76               9                 320             (22,987) -                  
Cumulative net liquidity position at 
  31 December 2006 22,582        22,658        22,667        22,987        - -  

 
Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

Up to and up to and up to and up to 
and including and including and including and including Maturity 

1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 19,412        - - - - 19,412        
Other assets 93               54               3                 - - 150             
Loans - - 1,467          2,655          388             4,510          
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - - (376) (860) (136) (1,372)
Share investments at fair value through profit
  or loss - - - - 733             733             
Total assets 19,505        54               1,094          1,795          985             23,433        

Liabilities and contributor’s resources

Other liabilities - (7) - - - (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 

  parallel investments - - - - (1,794) (1,794)
Total contributor’s resources - - - - (21,632) (21,632)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - (7) - - (23,426) (23,433)
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 19,505        47               1,094          1,795          (22,441) -
Cumulative net liquidity position at 

  31 December 2005 19,505        19,552        20,646        22,441        - -  
 

14 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

 
14 Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

Over 1 month Over 3 months 
Up to and up to and up to 

and including and including and including Non-interest-
1 month 3 month 1 year bearing funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 22,414             - - - 22,414             
Other assets - - - 179                  179                  
Loans 450                  85                    1,570               - 2,105               
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - - - (569) (569)
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss -                       - - 522                  522                  
Total assets 22,864             85                    1,570               132                  24,651             

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities - - - (7) (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
  parallel investments - - - (2,306) (2,306)
Total contributor’s resources - - - (22,338) (22,338)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources -                       -                       -                       (24,651) (24,651)
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 22,864             85                    1,570               (24,519) -                        

 
Over 1 month Over 3 months 

Up to and up to and up to 
and including and including and including Non-interest-

1 month 3 month 1 year bearing funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 0

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 19,412             - - - 19,412             
Other assets - - - 150                  150                  
Loans 1,000               2,995               515                  - 4,510               
Provisions for impairment of loan investments - - - (1,372) (1,372)
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss - - - 733                  733                  
Total assets 20,412             2,995               515                  (489) 23,433             

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities - - - (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 

  parallel investments - - - (1,794) (1,794)

Total contributor’s resources - - - (21,632) (21,632)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - - (23,433) (23,433)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 20,412             2,995               515                  (23,922) -

00 

(7)

 
 

The table below summaries the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments:
United United

Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

2006 2006 2005 2005

% % % %

Assets

Placements with credit institutions 2.76 4.30 1.99 2.78

Loans 6.83 - 5.67 -
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair value. 
 
16 Segment information 
 

In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is Sub-Account and the secondary segment is business 
operation.   
 
At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised five Sub-Accounts and a single secondary segment (Banking 
operations). 
  
The results for the year and the assets and liabilities of the five Sub-Accounts are as follows: 

 
Income statement AREF BiH SME KREF S&M RSF WB LEF Combined Fund 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Interest and similar income 139                     194                     43                       307                     170                     853                     
Net gains from share investments at fair 
 value through profit or loss (64) -                          35                       -                          -                          (29)
Foreign exchange 6                         -                          -                          -                          (334) (328)
Other operating expenses (1) (2) (2) (1) (1) (7)
Operating profit before provisions 80                       192                     76                       306                     (165) 489                     
Provisions for impairment of loan
  investments and guarantees (167) 32                       (420) 902                     (130) 217                     
Net (loss)/profit for the year (87) 224                     (344) 1,208                  (295) 706                      

 
Balance sheet AREF BiH SME KREF S&M RSF WB LEF Combined Fund 

At 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 1,659               6,683                  1,609                  3,820                  8,643                  22,414                
Other assets 7                      57                       13                       25                       77                       179                     
Loans -                       85                       -                          1,570                  450                     2,105                  
Provisions for impairment -                       (4) -                          (435) (130) (569)
Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 72                    -                          450                     -                          -                          522                     
Total assets 1,738               6,821                  2,072                  4,980                  9,040                  24,651                

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities (1) (2) (2) (1) (1) (7)
Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 
  parallel investments (826) -                          (1,480) -                          -                          (2,306)
Total contributor’s resources (911) (6,819) (590) (4,979) (9,039) (22,338)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (1,738) (6,821) (2,072) (4,980) (9,040) (24,651)  

 
Income statement AREF BiH SME KREF S&M RSF WB LEF Combined Fund 

For the year ended 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Interest and similar income 172                     159                     29                       356                     -                      716                     

Net gains from share investments at fair 167                     - 547                     - -                      714                     

 value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange 834                     - - - -                      834                     

Other operating expenses (2) (1) (2) (2) -                      (7)

Operating profit before provisions 1,171                  158                     574                     354                     -                      2,257                  

Provisions for impairment of loan

  investments and guarantees 580                     153                     24                       (599) -                      158                     

Net profit/(loss) for the year 1,751                  311                     598                     (245) -                      2,415                   
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The Italian Investment Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
16  Segment information (continued) 
 
 

Balance sheet AREF BiH SME KREF S&M RSF WB LEF Combined Fund 

At 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets

Placements with credit institutions 6,815               5,870                  1,486                  5,241                  -                      19,412                

Other assets 21                    40                       8                         81                       -                      150                     

Loans - 722                     - 3,788                  -                      4,510                  

Provisions for impairment - (35) - (1,337) -                      (1,372)

Share investments at fair value through profit or loss 231                  - 502                     - -                      733                     

Total assets 7,067               6,597                  1,996                  7,773                  -                      23,433                

Liabilities and contributor’s resources

Other liabilities (1) (2) (2) (2) -                      (7)

Provisions for impairment of guaranteed 

  parallel investments (734) - (1,060) - -                      (1,794)

Total contributor’s resources (6,332) (6,595) (934) (7,771) -                      (21,632)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (7,067) (6,597) (1,996) (7,773) -                      (23,433)  
 
17  Guarantees 
 

At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €0.2 million (2005: €1.4 million) under BiH 
SME, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded in part from the 
resources of the BiH SME sub-account of the Fund.  At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under 
such guarantees was €0.2 million (2005: €1.4 million). 

 
At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €11.0 million (2005: €17.8 million) under 
S&M RSF, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded in part from the 
resources of the S&M RSF sub-account of the Fund.  At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under 
such guarantees was €1.6 million (2005: €3.8 million). 

 
At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €1.0 million (2005: nil) under WB LEF, for 
which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded in part from the resources of 
the WB LEF sub-account of the Fund.  At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such 
guarantees was €0.5 million (2005: nil). 

 
18  Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these 
financial statements.  



 

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Italian Investment Special Fund for the year 
ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the 
statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting 
policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 

 16



 

Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
   

   

Income statement Year to   Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 2006   31 December 2005 

 Note € 000   € 000 

   
Interest and similar income 702     513
Net (losses)/gains from share investments at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 4 (451)   289

Performance fees payable 5 (12,666)   (15,929)
Disbursements for technical cooperation 6 (4,451)   (3,060)
Fund manager fees payable 7 -   (100)
Other operating expenses 8 (88)   (263)

Net loss for the year  (16,954)   (18,550)

   

   

    

Balance sheet   31 December   31 December 

At 31 December 2006 2006   2005 
 Note € 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions  22,560   29,419
Other assets 9 87   43
Share investments 10    

Share investments at fair value through  
profit or loss 

 1,412  2,253  

Available-for-sale share investments  729  1,392  
  2,141   3,645
Contributions receivable 11 60,000   67,000

Total assets 84,788   100,107

   
Liabilities and contributor’s resources   
Other liabilities 12 4,966   3,531

Total liabilities  4,966   3,531
    
Contributions 11 173,000   173,000
Reserves and retained earnings  (93,178)   (76,424)

Total contributor’s resources 79,822   96,576

   
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources  84,788   100,107
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
 
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources 
For the year ended 31 December 2006 General Accumulated  

Contributions reserve loss  Total 
€ 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 

At 31 December 2004 155,000 - (58,152)  96,848 
Transitional restatement of opening balances for fair value 
of share investments 

- 222 -  222 

At 1 January 2005 155,000 222 (58,152)  97,070 
Contribution agreement 18,000 - -  18,000 
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share 
investments for the year 

- 56 -  56 

Net loss for the year - - (18,550)  (18,550)
At 31 December 2005 173,000 278 (76,702)  96,576 
Net fair value movement of available-for-sale share 
investments for the year 

- 200 -  200 

Net loss for the year - - (16,954)  (16,954)
At 31 December 2006 173,000 478 (93,656)  79,822 
    
    
    

  

  

  

  

Statement of cash flows  Year to  Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006   31 December   31 December 
2006  2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000  € 000 

  
Cash flows from operating activities  
Operating loss for the year (16,954) (18,550) 
Adjustments for:  

Net losses/(gains) from share investments at fair 
value through profit or loss 

451 (289) 

Operating loss before changes in operating assets (16,503) (18,839) 
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:  
   Interest receivable and prepaid expenses (44) 22 
   Proceeds from sale of share investments 2,364   227 
   Funds advanced for share investments (1,111) (1,852) 
Decrease/(increase) in operating liabilities:   
   Accrued expenses 1,431    (681) 
   Other liabilities 4  - 
Net cash used in operating activities (13,859)  (21,123)
Cash flows from financing activities   
Contributions 7,000  21,000 
Net cash from financing activities 7,000  21,000
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,859)  (123)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 29,419  29,542

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22,560  29,419
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The SME Finance Facility Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of Directors (“the 

Board”) of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) at its meeting of 7 April 1999 and is 
administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved by the Board on that 
date. On 19 April 1999, the Bank entered into a contribution arrangement (“the Arrangement”) in respect of the Fund 
with the European Community (“EC”). 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of the 

Fund is to alleviate the financing problems of small and medium-sized enterprises (“the SMEs”) in Bulgaria, Czech 
Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia (“the Accession countries”).   

 
The Fund comprises two windows: (i) the Loan, Guarantee and Leasing Window (incorporating the Rural Sub-
Window) and (ii) the Equity Window. 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the 
European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 
 IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option 
 This amendment permits the irrevocable designation on initial recognition of financial instruments that meet certain 

conditions as ones to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  The conditions that are required to be met under 
the amendment are where such designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, when a group 
of financial assets, financial liabilities or both are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and when an instrument contains an embedded 
derivative that meets particular conditions.  From 1 January 2005 the Fund has designated its associate share 
investments and high-risk equity funds at fair value through profit or loss as the performance of these assets is managed 
on a fair value basis in accordance with the Bank’s risk management and accounting policies. 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 2006 

financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds; 

and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment. 

 
Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 

 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 

Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the disclosure of 

qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified 
minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of sensitivity to market risk.  
It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, and the 
disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) 
introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages that capital.  The Fund has assessed the 
impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main additional disclosures will be in relation to 
sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 
2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly 
by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  Generally, 
financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating operating segment 
performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the Fund currently comprises a single 
primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (“the Accession countries”) IFRS 8 is not expected 
to impact the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
(effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Changes in critical accounting policies, accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 
 
IAS 28 (Amendment), Investments in Associates 
Prior to 2005 all share investments were accounted for as available-for-sale financial assets as the Fund did not issue 
consolidated financial statements under the requirements of the previous IAS 28.  As of 1 January 2005, the Fund 
applied the exemption for venture capital organisations under IAS 28 Revised 2005.  This permitted the Fund to 
designate share investments, previously held as available-for-sale, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.   
 
The Fund has chosen to designate all associate share investments as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
with changes in fair value included in the income statement.  All remaining share investments continue to be designated 
as available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Prior to 2005 the Bank concluded that it could not reliably measure the fair value of the Fund’s unlisted share 
investments and as such it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted associate share investments. 
 
Fair valuation of unlisted share investments 
Prior to 2005, the Bank valued the Fund’s unlisted share investments at historic cost, less any provisions for 
impairment.  In 2005 the Bank performed an assessment of the fair value of the share investment portfolio as at 1 
January 2005 and 31 December 2005.  As a result of the assessment the Bank enhanced its valuation techniques so that 
unlisted equity could be measured at fair value. 
 
As fair value could not be reliably measured prior to 2005 it was impracticable to restate 2004 comparatives for unlisted 
share investments.  At 1 January 2005 the Fund released portfolio provisions for the unidentified impairment of share 
investments, totalling € 609,000, to reserves.  In addition the Fund restated all unlisted share investments to fair value 
resulting in a reduction to the Fund’s reserves of € 387,000.  The total impact on the Fund’s opening reserves was a net 
increase of € 222,000. 
 
iii Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
This category comprises the Fund’s associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the balance 
sheet with changes in fair value recorded in the income statement.  The basis of fair value for unlisted share 
investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each investment. 
Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 10 analyses unlisted share investments. 
 
Available-for-sale 
This category comprises the Fund’s non-associate share investments. Such assets are measured at fair value on the 
balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded through reserves, as disclosed in the “statement of changes in 
contributor's resources”, until the financial asset is sold or determined to be impaired. At this time the cumulative profit 
or loss previously recognised in reserves is removed and included in the income statement.  The basis of fair value for 
unlisted share investments is determined using valuation techniques appropriate to the market and industry of each 
investment. Purchases and sales of share investments are recorded at trade date. Note 10 analyses unlisted share 
investments. 

  
iv Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in the income statement during 
the reporting period. 
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are the fair value of available-for-sale share investments and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss.  These estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables which reflect 
the economic environment and financial markets of the Fund’s countries of operations but which are not directly 
correlated to market risks such as interest rate and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined with a lack 
of comparable information in relation to the Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply traditional 
sensitivity analysis methods. 
 

 v Contributions 
Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement by 
the Bank and a contributor. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a present value basis as there has 
been no indication as to the precise payment date of outstanding contributions. The Fund is satisfied that they will be 
realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements. 

 
 vi Disbursements for technical cooperation 
 Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the Fund over 

a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received. 
 

 vii Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months’ 

maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to insignificant 
risk of changes in value.  

 
viii Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  

 
 ix Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year. 
 
4 Net (losses)/gains from share investments at fair value through profit or loss 

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Net unrealised (losses)/gains from associate share investments (451)  289

Net (losses)/gains from assets at fair value through profit or loss (451)  289

 
5 Performance fees 
 
 Performance fees are incentive payments to banks and leasing companies participating in SME lending and leasing 

activities in the Accession countries. They are calculated as a percentage of actual financing extended to SMEs from 
loans advanced by the Bank and are either deducted from loan interest amounts payable to the Bank or paid directly to 
the participating leasing companies and participating banks. 

 
6 Disbursements for technical cooperation 

 Commitments   Undrawn 

approved Disbursements  commitments 

€ 000 € 000  € 000 

Projects in operation    
At 31 December 2004 55,828 29,395  26,433 

Movement in the year 1,661 3,060  (1,399)

At 31 December 2005 57,489 32,455  25,034 

Movement in the year 5,819 4,451  1,368 

At 31 December 2006 63,308 36,906  26,402 
 



 

 7

The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
7 Fund manager fees 
 
Fund manager fees represent amounts payable in respect of the management cost of the Fund’s equity investments held 
under the equity window. 
 
8 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and include a management fee 

payable to the Bank which is set at 1.25 per cent of each contribution instalment. External auditors’ remuneration of      
€ 7,400 (2005: € 7,100) is payable by the Bank from this management fee. 

 
9 Other assets  

2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Interest receivable on placements 87  37 

Bank charges recoverable -  6 

At 31 December 87  43 

 
10 Share investments  

 Share investments  Available-for-sale

 at fair value   share Total share 

 through profit or loss investments investments 

 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Outstanding disbursements   

At 31 December 2004 - 2,062 2,062 

Designated as fair value through profit or loss 1,517 (1,517) - 

At 1 January 2005 1,517 545 2,062 

Disbursements 964 888 1,852 

Disposals at cost (227) - (227)

At 31 December 2005 2,254 1,433 3,687 

Disbursements  1,006 105 1,111 

Disposals at cost  (1,396) (968) (2,364)

At 31 December 2006  1,864 570 2,434 

    

Fair value adjustment    
At 31 December 2004  - (609) (609)

Designated as fair value through profit or loss  (431) 431 - 

Transitional restatement of opening balances to fair value  141 81 222 

At 1 January 2005  (290) (97) (387)

Movement in fair value revaluation  289 56 345 

At 31 December 2005  (1) (41) (42)

Movement in fair value revaluation  (451) 200 (251)

At 31 December 2006  (452) 159 (293)

     
Fair value at 31 December 2006  1,412 729 2,141 

Fair value at 31 December 2005  2,253 1,392 3,645 
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
11 Contributions 
 

Contributions received and receivable from the EC are set out below: 
2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Cumulative contributions received 113,000  106,000 

Contributions receivable 60,000  67,000 

Total contributions at 31 December 173,000  173,000 

 
 No replenishment agreements were signed during the year (2005: €18 million).  A contribution of €7million was received 

from the EC on 8 September 2006 (2005: €21 million). 
 
12 Other liabilities  

2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Performance fees payable 1,412  1,721 

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable 3,550  1,673 

Other operating expenses payable -  137 

Other liabilities 4  - 

Total other liabilities as at 31 December 4,966  3,531 

 
13 Undrawn commitments 

 2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Disbursements for technical cooperation 26,402  25,034 

Share investments 8,929  10,040 

At 31 December 35,331  35,074 

 
14  Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributor’s resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date.  Those assets and liabilities that do not have a 
contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity undefined” category. 
 

  Over 1 month  
 Up to and up to  
 and including and including Maturity 
 1 month 3 months undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets    

Placements with credit institutions  22,560 - - 22,560

Other assets  87 - - 87

Share investments  - - 2,141 2,141

Contributions receivable  - - 60,000 60,000

Total assets  22,647 - 62,141 84,788

     

Liabilities and contributor’s resources     

Other liabilities  (1,389) (3,573) (4) (4,966)

Total contributor’s resources  - - (79,822) (79,822)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (1,389) (3,573) (79,826) (84,788)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006   21,258 (3,573) (17,685) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 21,258 17,685 - -
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
14  Liquidity position (continued) 

 Over 1 month   
 Up to and up to   
 and including and including Maturity  
 1 month 3 months undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions  22,919 6,500 - 29,419

Other assets  39 4 - 43

Share investments  - - 3,645 3,645

Contributions receivable  - - 67,000 67,000

Total assets  22,958 6,504 70,645 100,107

     

Liabilities and contributor’s resources     

Other liabilities  (1,647) (1,884) - (3,531)

Total contributor’s resources  - - (96,576) (96,576)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (1,647) (1,884) (96,576) (100,107)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005   21,311 4,620 (25,931) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 21,311 25,391 - -

 
15 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and liabilities 

at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 

 Over 1 month Over 3 months 
 Up to and up to and up to Non-interest-
 and including and including and including bearing
 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions 22,560 - - - 22,560

Other assets - - - 87 87

Share investments - - - 2,141 2,141

Contributions receivable - - - 60,000 60,000

Total assets 22,560 - - 62,228 84,788

    
Liabilities and contributor’s 
resources 

   

Other liabilities - - - (4,966) (4,966)

Total contributor’s resources - - - (79,822) (79,822)

Total liabilities and contributor’s 
resources 

- - - (84,788) (84,788)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 22,560 - - (22,560) -
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The SME Finance Facility Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
15 Interest rate risk (continued) 

   Over 1 month Over 3 months 
 Up to and up to and up to Non-interest-
 and including and including and including bearing
 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets    

Placements with credit institutions 18,919 4,000 6,500 - 29,419

Other assets - - - 43 43

Share investments - - - 3,645 3,645

Contributions receivable - - - 67,000 67,000

Total assets 18,919 4,000 6,500 70,688 100,107

   
Liabilities and contributor’s resources   

Other liabilities - - - (3,531) (3,531)

Total contributor’s resources - - - (96,576) (96,576)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - - (100,107) (100,107)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 18,919 4,000 6,500 (29,419) -

 
 The effective interest rate at 31 December 2006 for placements with credit institutions was 3.40 per cent 

(2005: 2.20 per cent). 
  
16 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair value. 
 
17 Segment information 
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment is 

geographical.  At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and one geographic region (“the Accession countries”).  Consequently, no additional disclosure is required. 

 
18 Related parties 
 
 The Fund has a number of venture capital associates that it accounts for at fair value through profit or loss. At 

31 December 2006, according to unaudited management information or the most recently available audited financial 
statements from the investee companies, they had total assets of €5.0 million (2005: €1.9 million), total liabilities of 
€241,000 (2005: €308,000), and for the year ended 31 December 2006 had revenue of €456,000 (2005: €2.2 million), 
and made a net loss of €897,000 (2005: profit of €1.2 million). 

 
19  Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements. 

 



 

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the SME Finance Facility Special Fund for the 
year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the 
statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting 
policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Balkan Region Special Fund

Income statement  Year to Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006  31 December 2006 31 December 2005 
Note € 000 € 000 

Interest and similar income   223                 196                 

Fee income 39                   81                   

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (2) 2                     

Disbursements for technical cooperation 4,7 (159) (262)

Other operating expenses 5,7 (7) (28)

Net income refunded on termination of
   contribution agreements 6 (107) (377)

Net loss for the year  (13) (388)

Restated 

Balance sheet  31 December  31 December 

At 31 December 2006 2006 2005 
Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 8,015              8,299              

Other assets 8 588                 451                 

Total assets 8,603              8,750              

Liabilities and contributors’ resources
Other liabilities 9 1,399              315                 

Contributors’ resources
   Contributions 10 9,779              10,997            

   Reserves and retained earnings (2,575) (2,562)

Total contributors’ resources 7,204              8,435              

Total liabilities 8,603              8,750               
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The Balkan Region Special Fund

Statement of cash flows Year to              Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 31 December 

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating loss for the year (13) (388)

Adjustment for:
   Foreign exchange 2                        (2)

Operating loss before changes in operating assets (11) (390)

Increase in operating assets:
    Interest receivable (24) (1)

    Advances (80) -

    Fee income receivable (33) (81)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
    Accrued expenses 1,084                 (154)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 936                    (626)

Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received - 423                    

Contributions refunded on termination of a 
    contribution agreement (1,218) (1,952)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,218) (1,529)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (282) (2,155)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 8,299                 10,452               

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (2) 2                        

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 8,015                 8,299                  
 
 
 
Statement of changes in contributors’ resources  

For the year ended 31 December 2006 Accumulated 

Contributions loss                    Total 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 

At 31 December 2004 12,766                         (2,174) 10,592                                 

Contribution agreement 423                              - 423                                      

Termination of contribution agreement (2,192) - (2,192)

Loss for the year - (388) (388)

At 31 December 2005 10,997                         (2,562) 8,435                                   

Termination of contribution agreement (1,218) - (1,218)

Loss for the year - (13) (13)

At 31 December 2006 9,779                           (2,575) 7,204                                   
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 

 The creation of The Balkan Region Special Fund ("the Fund") was approved by the Board of Directors ("the 
Board") of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development ("the Bank") on 15 September 1999 and is 
administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved by the Board 
on that date.  The Fund became operational on 7 December 1999 following the signing of the first contribution 
agreement.  

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank. The objective 

of the Fund is to assist the reconstruction of Albania, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Croatia, Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Bulgaria and Romania (the “Balkan Countries ”), through the Bank’s Balkan Region Action 
Plan.  The Action Plan was extended in 2001 to cover projects in Serbia and Montenegro, when it became a 
recipient member country of the Bank. Activities of the Fund may include investments and technical cooperation.  

 
 At 31 December 2006, the Fund had two project sub-accounts: a Trade Facilitation sub-account and a Technical 

Cooperation sub-account.  
 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles 
of the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and 
Other Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and 

subsequently measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the 
expenditure required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.  The Fund has retrospectively applied 
this Amendment and the effect of the restatement was to increase both other assets and other liabilities by 
€20,000 at 31 December 2005 to reflect guarantee fees receivable and deferred income from financial guarantees.  
The recognition of the present value of the fees receivable has no impact on the financial statements. 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment. 
 

Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Fund 

 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s 

accounting period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of 
sensitivity to market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and 
Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it 
manages that capital.  The Fund has assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that 
the main additional disclosures will be in relation to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 
(Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  
Reportable segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  
Operating segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is 
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance.  Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for 
evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the 
Fund currently comprises a single primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (the “Balkan 
Countries”) IFRS 8 is not expected to impact the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its 
annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

iii Significant accounting policies 
 
Financial guarantees 
Issued financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently measured at the higher of 
the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure required to settle the 
commitment at the balance sheet date.  The latter is determined upon consideration of objective evidence that the 
guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable that the guarantee will require to be settled and 
that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. 

 
 iv Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Transactions, 

including disbursements, in foreign currencies are translated into euro at exchange rates ruling at the time of the 
transaction.  Commitments net of disbursements made, in currencies other than euro, are translated at spot rates as 
at 31 December 2006.  Monetary assets denominated in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at spot 
rates as at 31 December 2006. Revenue and expense items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the 
date on which they occurred. 

 
Exchange gains or losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are 
taken to the income statement. 
 

 v Interest, fees and commissions 
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis.  Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time are 
recorded as income over the period during which the services are provided. Other fees and commissions are taken 
to income when received. 

 
 vi Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution 

agreement by the Bank and a contributor. Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into 
euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction.  

 
 vii  Disbursements for technical cooperation 
 Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the 

Fund over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received. 
 

 viii Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. This definition includes balances of cash and current accounts with foreign 
banks.  

 
ix  Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and 
duties levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
4   Disbursements for technical cooperation  Commitments   Undrawn

 approved Disbursements  commitments

 € 000 € 000  € 000

Projects in operation   
At 1 January 2005 2,459 2,047  412 

Movement in the year 256 86  170 

At 31 December 2005 2,715 2,133  582 

Movement in the year (134) 42  (176)

At 31 December 2006 2,581 2,175  406 

   

Completed projects   

At 1 January 2005 1,378 1,378  - 

Movement in the year 176 176  - 

At 31 December 2005 1,554 1,554  - 

Movement in the year 117 117  - 

At 31 December 2006 1,671 1,671  - 

   

Total projects   

At 1 January 2005 3,837 3,425  412 

Movement in the year 432 262  170 

At 31 December 2005 4,269 3,687  582 

Movement in the year (17) 159  (176)

At 31 December 2006 4,252 3,846  406 

 
5 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and include fees payable 

to the Bank for operating the Fund, calculated as 2.5 and 5 per cent of each contribution instalment received 
relating to investment and technical cooperation activities respectively.  

 
6 Contributions and net income refunded on termination of contribution agreements 
 
 A contribution agreement between the Bank and the Netherlands FMO N.V. (“FMO”) for €3.00 million was 

terminated by mutual consent on 15 September 2002. Contributions have been refunded to FMO periodically 
since termination as the underlying trade facilitation transactions expire. At 31 December 2006, no further 
contributions or net income payments were due to FMO.  

 
 A contribution agreement between the Bank and Germany for €2.25 million was terminated by mutual consent on 

15 March 2005.  Contributions have been refunded to Germany periodically since termination as the underlying 
trade facilitation transactions expire. At 31 December 2006, no further contributions or net income payments 
were due to Germany.  

 
 A contribution agreement between the Bank and Netherlands for €1.16 million was terminated by mutual consent 

on 31 December 2004.  The amount contributions refundable to the Netherlands is disclosed in “Other liabilities” 
on the balance sheet together with Netherlands’s share of retained net income to the date of termination of 
€107,450. 

 
7 External auditors’ remuneration 
 
 Other operating expenses include external auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100). There were no 

payments made to the external auditors for consultancy services provided under the heading “Disbursements for 
technical cooperation” in 2006 (2005: Nil). 
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
8   Other assets   Restated

 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Interest receivable on placements  68  44

Business Advisory Services Programme advances 80  -

Fee income receivable 440  407

At 31 December  588  451

 
9   Other liabilities   Restated

 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Contributions and net income refundable  1,267  240

Disbursements for technical cooperation payable 110  27

Deferred income from financial guarantees 14  20

Other 8  28

At 31 December  1,399  315

 
10 Contributions 
 
 Cumulative contributions received from the donor countries are set out below: 

  2006 2006  2005 2005

  € 000 %  € 000 %

Austria  276 2.8  276 2.5

Canada  1,472 15.1  1,472 13.4

Denmark  750 7.7  750 6.8

Germany  - -  58 0.5

Netherlands   - -  1,160 10.6

Norway  1,568 16.0  1,568 14.2

Switzerland  4,218 43.1  4,218 38.4

Taipei China   1,495 15.3  1,495 13.6

At 31 December  9,779 100.0  10,997 100.0

 
11 Guarantees 
 

At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding guarantees under the Balkan Region Trade Facilitation 
Programme for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank will be refunded from the 
resources of the Fund.  At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was 
€4.7 million (2005: €6.2 million).  No provisions have been recognised against this exposure. 

  

Analysis by geographic area 2006  2005
€ 000  € 000

Bosnia and Herzegovina 1,335  1,928

Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia 3,184  2,434

Serbia and Montenegro 200  1,807

At 31 December 4,719  6,169

 
12 Undrawn commitments 

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Disbursements for technical cooperation  406  582

Guarantees 4,719  6,169

At 31 December  5,125  6,751
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
13 Net currency position 

  United States 

 Euro dollars Total

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 8,000 15 8,015
Other assets 588 - 588

Total assets 8,588 15 8,603

  
Liabilities    
Other liabilities (1,399) - (1,399)
Total contributors’ resources (7,204) - (7,204)

Total liabilities  (8,603) - (8,603)

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 (15) 15 -

 
  United States 

Restated Euro Dollars Total

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 8,283 16 8,299
Other assets 451 - 451

Total assets 8,734 16 8,750

  
Liabilities    
Other liabilities (315) - (315)
Total contributors’ resources     (8,435) - (8,435)

Total liabilities  (8,750) - (8,750)

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 (16) 16 -

 
The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars into euro 
at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
14 Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributors’ resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date 
is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category. 

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

 Up to and and up to and up to and up to 

 including and including and including and including Maturity

 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 year undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 8,015 - - - - 8,015
Other assets 147 410 25 6 - 588

Total assets 8,162 410 25 6 - 8,603

  
Liabilities   
Other liabilities (1,267) (114) (13) (5) - (1,399)
Total contributors’ resources - - - - (7,204) (7,204)

Total liabilities  (1,267) (114) (13) (5) (7,204) (8,603)

  
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 6,895 296 12 1 (7,204) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 6,895 7,191 7,203 7,204 - -

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

 Up to and and up to and up to and up to 

 including and including and including and including Maturity

Restated 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 year undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 8,299 - - - - 8,299
Other assets 44 337 39 31 - 451

Total assets 8,343 337 39 31 - 8,750

  
Liabilities   
Other liabilities (27) (25) (256) (7) - (315)
Total contributors’ resources - - - - (8,435) (8,435)

Total liabilities  (27) (25) (256) (7) (8,435) (8,750)

  
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 8,316 312 (217) 24 (8,435) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 8,316 8,628 8,411 8,435 - -
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The Balkan Region Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
 

 Up to Non-interest- 

 and including bearing 

 1 month funds Total

Interest rate risk  at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 8,015 - 8,015
Other assets -   588 588

Total assets 8,015 588 8,603

   
Liabilities    
Other liabilities - (1,399) (1,399)
Total contributors’ resources - (7,204) (7,204)

Total liabilities  - (8,603) (8,603)

   
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 8,015 (8,015) -

 
 Up to Non-interest- 

 and including bearing 

Restated 1 month funds Total

Interest rate risk  at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 8,299 - 8,299
Other assets - 451 451

Total assets 8,299 451 8,750

   
Liabilities    
Other liabilities - (315) (315)
Total contributors’ resources - (8,435) (8,435)

Total liabilities  - (8,750) (8,750)

   
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 8,299 (8,299) -

 
 The table below summaries the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
  

 United  United

 Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

 2006 2006 2005 2005

Assets % % % %

Placements with credit institutions 2.75 4.53 1.99 2.76

 
16 Segment information 
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment is 

geographical.  At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and one geographic region (the “Balkan Countries”). Consequently, no additional disclosure is 
required. 

 
17 Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these 
financial statements.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Balkan Region Special Fund for the year 
ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the 
statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting 
policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

European Bank 
for Reconstruction and Development 

 
 

The EBRD SME Special Fund 
 
 

Annual Financial Report 
31 December 2006 

 
 



 
 
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 
 
The EBRD SME Special Fund 
 
 
Contents 

 
 
 
 
Income statement 1 
 
Balance sheet 1 
 
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources 2 
 
Statement of cash flows 2 
 
Notes to the financial statements 3 - 12 
 
Independent auditors’ report 13 - 14 
 



 1

The EBRD SME Special Fund
Restated  

Income statement Year to Year to  
For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 2006 31 December 2005  

Note € 000 € 000  

Interest and similar income  
   From loans 400                        376                        
   Other interest 181                        98                          
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (572) 390                        
Disbursements for technical cooperation 4 (1,182) (1,715)
Other operating expenses 5 (197) (98)
Operating loss before provisions (1,370) (949)
Provisions for impairment of loan investments 6 119                        258                        
Net loss for the year (1,251) (691)

Restated 

Balance sheet  31 December 31 December 
At 31 December 2006 2006                         2005                         

Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 
Assets
Placements with credit institutions 4,620                     3,658                     
Other assets 7 135                        130                        
Loan investments
   Loans 8 5,740           7,137           
   Less: Provisions for impairment 6 (474) (619)

5,266                     6,518                     
Contributions receivable 9 1,000                     2,059                     
Total assets 11,021                   12,365                   

Liabilities and contributor’s resources
Other liabilities 10 1,274                     1,199                     
Total liabilities 1,274                     1,199                     

Contributions 9 37,322                   37,490                   
Reserves and retained earnings (27,575) (26,324)
Total contributor’s resources 9,747                     11,166                   

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources 11,021                   12,365                   
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The EBRD SME Special Fund

Statement of changes in contributor’s resources  
For the year ended 31 December 2006 Accumulated 

Contributions           loss                    Total 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 
At 31 December 2004 35,386             (27,429) 7,957               
Prior year restatement from changes in accounting polices - 1,796               1,796               
At 1 January 2005 as restated 35,386             (25,633) 9,753               
Contribution agreement 1,902               - 1,902               
Exchange rate difference on conversion of contributions receivable 202                  - 202                  
Loss for the year - (691) (691)
At 31 December 2005 37,490             (26,324) 11,166             
Exchange rate difference on conversion of contributions receivable (168) - (168)
Loss for the year - (1,251) (1,251)
At 31 December 2006 37,322             (27,575) 9,747                
 
 
 

Restated 
Statement of cash flows  Year to  Year to 
For the year ended 31 December 2006  31 December 31 December 

2006                       2005                       
€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating loss for the year (1,251) (691)
Adjustment for:
   Provisions for impairment of loan investments (119) (258)
   Foreign exchange 572                       (390)
Operating loss before changes in operating assets (798) (1,339)
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
   Interest receivable (5) 44                         
   Proceeds from repayment of loans 1,459                    83                         
   Funds advanced for loans (200) (100)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
   Accrued expenses 75                         (344)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 531                       (1,656)
Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received 891                       1,604                    
Net cash from financing activities 891                       1,604                    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,422                    (52)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,658                    3,488                    
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (460) 222                       
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4,620                    3,658                     
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The EBRD SME Special Fund (“the Fund”) was approved by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) 

of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) on 28 June 2000 and is administered, 
inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved by the Board on that date.  The 
Fund became operational on 24 July 2000 following the signing of the first contribution agreement. 

 
  The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to assist the development of small (including micro) and medium-size enterprises (the “SMEs”) in 
Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro, 
Romania and Serbia.  In June 2002 the Bank and the contributor to the Special Fund agreed to extend the activities 
of the Fund to Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyz Republic, Moldova, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, 
Ukraine and Uzbekistan (collectively, the “Eligible Countries”).  Activities of the Fund include investments and 
technical cooperation. 

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Fund’s policies.  
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed below in “critical accounting estimates and judgements”. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently 

measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure 
required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date. 

 
 The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal losses of certain investments of the Bank.  The Fund 

receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and there are no preferential 
lending arrangements on behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  As there is no implied value of these 
guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.  Any subsequent provisioning is 
determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 
 The Fund has retrospectively applied this Amendment and, as a result of provisions for guarantees being 

determined under IAS 37, the effect of the restatement was to decrease provisions for impairment in 2005 by 
€53,000, increase foreign exchange by €277,000 and increase the Fund’s opening retained earnings at 
1 January 2005 by €1.8 million.  This lead to a subsequent reduction in balance sheet provisions for impairment of 
guaranteed parallel investments of €2.0 million at 31 December 2005. 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment. 
 

Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 
 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of 
sensitivity to market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and 
Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages 
that capital.  The Fund has assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main 
additional disclosures will be in relation to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 
(Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the Fund 
currently comprises a single primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (“the Eligible 
Countries”), IFRS 8 is not expected to impact the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual 
period beginning 1 January 2009. 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund 
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s 

accounting period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 

 
iii   Significant accounting policies 
 

 Financial assets 
 Loans originated by the Fund are measured at amortised cost using the effective yield method less any provision for 
impairment or uncollectibility. Loans are recognised at settlement date. 
 

 Provisions for impairment of loan investments 
Where there is objective evidence that an identified loan is impaired, specific provisions for impairment are 
recognised in the income statement.  Impairment is defined as the difference between the carrying value of the asset 
and the net present value of expected future cash flows, determined using the instrument’s original effective interest 
rate where applicable. The Bank’s Risk Management Vice Presidency normally reviews assets for impairment 
every six months, and sometimes more frequently.  Resulting adjustments include the unwinding of the discount in 
the income statement over the life of the asset, and any adjustments required in respect of a reassessment of the 
initial impairment. 
 

 Provisions for impairment of classes of similar assets that are not individually identified as impaired are calculated 
on a portfolio basis.  The methodology used for assessing such impairment is based on a risk-rated approach for 
non-sovereign assets applied in the month of disbursement.  The effect of applying the Fund’s methodology is 
considered to approximate to the calculation of impairment on an incurred loss basis, being the difference between 
the carrying value of the groups of similar assets and the net present value of their expected future cash flows.  

  
 Impairment, as determined above, is deducted from the asset categories on the balance sheet.  Impairment, less any 

amounts reversed during the year, is charged to the income statement under the caption “provisions for impairment 
of loan investments”, as summarised in note 6. When a loan is deemed uncollectable the principal is written off 
against the related estimated impairment.  Subsequent recoveries are credited to the income statement if previously 
written off.  
 
Financial guarantees 
The Fund resources are used to guarantee the principal losses of the Bank’s investments in which the Fund makes a 
parallel investment. The Fund receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received and 
there are no preferential lending arrangements on behalf of the Fund where parallel lending exists.  As there is no 
implied value of these guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.   
 

 Any subsequent provisioning is determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
upon consideration of objective evidence that the guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable 
that the guarantee will require to be settled and that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3  Accounting policies (continued) 
 

iv  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Preparing 
financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Fund to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts included in 
the income statement during the reporting period. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are the provisions for impairment of loan investments. These 
estimates are highly dependent on a number of variables which reflect the economic environment and financial 
markets of the Fund’s countries of operations but which are not directly correlated to market risks such as interest 
rate and foreign exchange risk.  The resultant volatility, combined with a lack of comparable information in relation 
to the Fund's banking portfolio, limits the Fund's ability to apply traditional sensitivity analysis methods. 
 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating provisions for the impairment of loan investments are 
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual experience. 
 

 v Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€). Transactions, 

including disbursements for technical cooperation, in foreign currencies are translated into euro at exchange rates 
ruling at the time of the transaction.  Commitments net of disbursements made, in currencies other than euro, are 
translated at spot rates as at 31 December 2006.  Monetary assets denominated in currencies other than euro are 
translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006. Revenue and expense items are translated into euro at the 
exchange rate on the date on which they occurred.  Exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of assets, 
liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to the income statement. 

 
 vi   Disbursements for technical cooperation 
 Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the Fund 

over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received. 
 

 vii Interest, fees and commissions 
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis using the effective yield method. Interest is recognised on impaired loans 
through unwinding the discount used in the present value calculations applied to expected future cash flows. 

 
Commitment fees are deferred in accordance with IAS 18, together with the related direct costs of originating and 
maintaining the commitment, and are recognised in interest income over the period from disbursement to 
repayment of the related loan. If the commitment expires without the loan being drawn down, the fee is recognised 
as income on expiry. 
 

 viii Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement 
by the Bank and a contributor. Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the 
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Outstanding contributions are translated into euro at spot rates 
as at 31 December 2006. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a present value basis as there has 
been no indication as to the precise payment date of outstanding contributions. The Fund is satisfied that they will 
be realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements. 

 
 ix Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 
x Taxation 
 In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3  Accounting policies (continued) 

 
 xi Comparatives 

 Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year. 

 
4 Disbursements for technical cooperation  

 Commitments   Undrawn 
approved Disbursements  commitments 

€ 000 € 000  € 000 

Projects in operation   
At 1 January 2005 14,041 8,810  5,231 
Movement in the year (2,909) (2,726)  (183) 
At 31 December 2005 11,132 6,084  5,048 
Movement in the year (7,609) (3,398)  (4,211) 

At 31 December 2006 3,523 2,686  837 
   

Completed projects    
At 1 January 2005 10,275 10,275  - 
Movement in the year 4,441 4,441  - 
At 31 December 2005 14,716 14,716  - 
Movement in the year 4,580 4,580  - 

At 31 December 2006 19,296 19,296  - 
   

Total projects    
At 1 January 2005 24,316 19,085  5,231 
Movement in the year 1,532 1,715  (183) 
At 31 December 2005 25,848 20,800  5,048 
Movement in the year (3,029) 1,182  (4,211) 

At 31 December 2006 22,819 21,982  837 

 
5 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and include fees payable to 

the Bank for operating the Fund, calculated in accordance with individual contribution agreements. Included in 
other operating expenses is external auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100) and net interest refundable to, 
the United States Agency for International Development in accordance with signed contribution agreements.  

 
6 Provisions for impairment of loan investments  
 

    

  2006   2005
Release for the year € 000   € 000

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified 
impairment of assets: 

  

   Non-sovereign risk assets (119)   (258)

For the year ended 31 December (119)   (258)

 
Movement in provisions   

At 1 January  619  852 
Release (119)  (258)
Foreign exchange adjustments (26)  25 

At 31 December  474  619 

    
Analysed between:    

Portfolio provisions for the unidentified 
impairment of non-sovereign loan investments 

474  619 

At 31 December  474  619 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
7 Other assets  
 

 2006  2005 
 € 000  € 000 
Interest receivable 135  130 
At 31 December 135  130 

 
8 Loan investments 

    
 2006  2005 
                € 000                € 000 

At 1 January   7,137  6,927 
Disbursements 200  100 
Repayments and prepayments (1,459)  (83) 
Foreign exchange movements (138)  193 

At 31 December   5,740  7,137 
Impairment at 31 December (note 6) (474)  (619) 

Total loan investments net of impairment at 31 December  5,266  6,518 

     
Undrawn commitments     
At 31 December   -  200 

    
 All loans were for projects in the Eligible Countries. 
 
9 Contributions 

 
Contribution agreements signed between the Bank and the United States are as follows: 
 
Contributions at 31 December 2006   € 000

At 1 January 2006   37,490
Foreign exchange movements   (168)

Total contribution agreements at 31 December 2006   37,322

 
Contributions at 31 December 2005   € 000

At 1 January 2005   35,386
Replenishments in the year:   
Date Agency/Department USD 000 € 000  

19 September United States Agency for International Development 2,250 1,902  

Replenishments 2005   1,902
Foreign exchange movements   202

Total contribution agreements at 31 December 2005   37,490

 
At 31 December 2006, contributions receivable from the United States amounted to €1 million (USD 1.3 million) 
(2005: €2.1 million).  
 

10 Other liabilities  
 

 2006  2005 
 € 000  € 000 

Interest reimbursable 778  663 
Disbursements for technical cooperation payable 489  521 
Other 7  15 
At 31 December 1,274  1,199 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
11 Guarantees 
 
 In accordance with Section 3.01 (a) (iii) of the Rules and Regulations of the Fund, the Fund may bear losses arising 

on parallel investments by the Bank, up to a maximum of 10 per cent of the total amount of contributions to the 
Fund. 

 
 At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €44.8 million, for which, in the event of a 

future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded from the resources of the Fund (2005: €35.3 million). 
At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was €2.4 million (2005: €2.0 million). 

 
12 Undrawn commitments and guarantees 

 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Disbursements for technical cooperation 837  5,048

Loan investments -  200

Loan guarantees 2,392  2,020

At 31 December 3,229  7,268

 
13 Net currency position 

  United States 

 Euro dollars Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 70 4,550 4,620 
Other assets 94 41 135 
Loans 4,772 968 5,740 
Provisions for impairment (313) (161) (474)
Contributions receivable - 1,000 1,000 
Total assets 4,623 6,398 11,021 

   
Liabilities and contributor’s resources   
Other liabilities (7) (1,267) (1,274)
Total contributor’s resources - (9,747) (9,747)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (7) (11,014) (11,021)
Net currency position at 31 December 2006 4,616 (4,616) -

 
  United States 

 Euro dollars Total 

Net currency position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions - 3,658 3,658 
Other assets 91 39 130 
Loans 5,668 1,469 7,137 
Provisions for impairment (358) (261) (619)
Contributions receivable - 2,059 2,059 
Total assets 5,401 6,964 12,365 

   
Liabilities and contributor’s resources   
Other liabilities (15) (1,184) (1,199)
Total contributor’s resources - (11,166) (11,166)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (15) (12,350) (12,365)
Net currency position at 31 December 2005 5,386 (5,386) -

 
The Fund uses the euro as the unit of measurement for the presentation of its financial statements but the resources are 
mainly denominated in United States dollars. The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities 
denominated in United States dollars into euro at 31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
14 Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributor’s resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category. 

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

 Up to and up to and up to and up to 

 and including and including and including and including Maturity

 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 4,620 - - - - 4,620
Other assets 23 103 9 - - 135
Loans - - 1,498 4,242 - 5,740
Provisions for impairment - - (189) (285) - (474)
Contributions receivable - - - - 1,000 1,000
Total assets 4,643 103 1,318 3,957 1,000 11,021

     
Liabilities and contributor’s resources     
Other liabilities (71) (425) (778) - - (1,274)
Total contributor’s resources - - - - (9,747) (9,747)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (71) (425) (778) - (9,747) (11,021)

    
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 4,572 (322) 540 3,957 (8,747) -
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 4,572 4,250 4,790 8,747 - -

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months Over 1 year 

 Up to and up to and up to and up to 

 and including and including and including and including Maturity

 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 3,658 - - - - 3,658
Other assets 16 102 12 - - 130
Loans - - - 7,137 - 7,137
Provisions for impairment - - - (619) - (619)
Contributions receivable - - - - 2,059 2,059
Total assets 3,674 102 12 6,518 2,059 12,365

  
Liabilities and contributor’s resources  
Other liabilities (200) (335) (664) - - (1,199)
Total contributor’s resources - - - - (11,166) (11,166)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (200) (335) (664) - (11,166) (12,365)

  
Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 3,474 (233) (652) 6,518 (9,107) -
Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 3,474 3,241 2,589 9,107 - -
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
  

 Over 1 month Over 3 months  

 Up to and up to and up to Non-interest- 

 and including and including and including bearing 

 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 4,620 - - - 4,620
Other assets - - - 135 135
Loans 114 4,770 856 - 5,740
Provisions for impairment - - - (474) (474)
Contributions receivable - - - 1,000 1,000

Total assets 4,734 4,770 856 661 11,021

  
Liabilities and contributor’s resources  
Other liabilities - - - (1,274) (1,274)
Total contributor’s resources - - - (9,747) (9,747)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - - (11,021) (11,021)

  
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 4,734 4,770 856 (10,360) -

 
 Over 1 month Over 3 months  

 Up to and up to and up to Non-interest- 

 and including and including and including bearing 

 1 month 3 months 1 year funds Total

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 3,658 - - - 3,658
Other assets - - - 130 130
Loans 127 5,846 1,164 - 7,137
Provisions for impairment - - - (619) (619)
Contributions receivable - - - 2,059 2,059

Total assets 3,785 5,846 1,164 1,570 12,365

  
Liabilities and contributor’s resources  
Other liabilities - - - (1,199) (1,199)
Total contributor’s resources - - - (11,166) (11,166)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - - (12,365) (12,365)

  
Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 3,785 5,846 1,164 (10,795) -
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The EBRD SME Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
15 Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
 The table below summaries the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
  

 United  United

 Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

 2006 2006 2005 2005

 % % % %

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 3.19 4.56 - 2.73
Loans 6.17 8.85 4.93 7.61

 
16 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities presented on the balance sheet approximate to their fair value. 
 
17 Segment information 
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment is 

geographical. At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment (Banking 
operations) and one geographic region (“the Eligible Countries”).  Consequently, no additional disclosure is 
required. 

 
18 Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these 
financial statements. 

 



 13

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the EBRD SME Special Fund for the year ended 
31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, the statement of 
changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the accounting policies and 
the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
Restated  

Income statement  Year to   Year to  

For the year ended  31 December 2006  31 December 2006  31 December 2005  
Note € 000  € 000  

 
Interest and similar income 312                206                
Fee income (339) 279                
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (366) 469                
Other operating expenses 4 (7) (7)
Net (loss)/profit for the year (400) 947                

Restated 

Balance sheet 31 December 31 December 

At 31 December 2006 2006 2005 
Note € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets
Placements with credit institutions 9,157             9,239             
Other assets 5 370                665                
Total assets 9,527             9,904             

Liabilities 
Other liabilities 6 68                  45                  

Contributors’ resources
  Contributions 7 9,443             9,443             
  Reserves and retained earnings 16                  416                

Total contributors’ resources 9,459             9,859             
Total liabilities 9,527             9,904              
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund

Restated 

Statement of cash flows Year to Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 31 December 

2006 2005 

€ 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating (loss)/profit for the year (400) 947                     

Adjustment for:
   Foreign exchange 366                     (469)

Operating (loss)/profit before changes in operating assets (34) 478                     

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
   Interest receivable (21) (12)

   Fee income receivable 316                     (279)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
   Accrued expenses 23                       (45)

Net cash provided by operating activities 284                      142                     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 284                      142                     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,239                   8,628                  
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (366) 469                     

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9,157                   9,239                  

Statement of changes in contributors’ resources 
For the year ended 31 December 2006 Accumulated 

Contributions (loss)/profit Total 

 € 000 € 000 € 000 
At 31 December 2004 9,443    (1,353) 8,090                  

Prior year restatement from changes in accounting policies - 822                     822                     

At 1 January 2005 as restated 9,443    (531) 8,912                  

Net profit for the year - 947                     947                     

At 31 December 2005 9,443    416                     9,859                  

Net loss for the year - (400) (400)

At 31 December 2006 9,443    16                       9,459                  
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of the Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund ("the Fund" or the “CARSSF”) was approved by the 

Board of Directors (“the Board”) of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) at its 
meeting of 26 June 2002 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special 
Fund approved by the Board on that date.  The Fund became operational on 15 August 2002 following the receipt of 
the first contributions. 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to provide a risk-sharing facility for SME credit lines, micro finance programs, the Direct Investment 
Facility and the Trade Facilitation Programme in the Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan 
(collectively the “Eligible Countries”).  

 
 At 31 December 2006, the Fund had three Sub-accounts: the Kyrgyz Republic Micro and Small Enterprise Finance 

Facility Sub-account (“KMSEFF”), the Trade Facilitation Sub-account (“TFP”) and the Tajikistan Micro and Small 
Enterprise Finance Facility Sub-account (“TMSEFF”).   

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of 
the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Amendments to published standards effective in 2006 
 

IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts 
 This amendment requires issued financial guarantees to be initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently 

measured at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure 
required to settle the commitment at the balance sheet date. 

 
 For Trade Facilitation Programme guarantees, the Fund has retrospectively applied this Amendment and the effect of 

the restatement was to increase both other assets and other liabilities by €38,000 at 31 December 2005 to reflect 
guarantee fees receivable and deferred income from financial guarantees.  The recognition of the present value of the 
fees receivable has no impact on the financial statements. 

 
 The Fund resources are also used to guarantee the principal losses of certain investments of the Bank.  The Fund 

receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received.  As there is no implied value of 
these guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39.  Any subsequent provisioning is 
determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.  The Fund has retrospectively 
applied this Amendment and, as a result of provisions for guarantees being determined under IAS 37, the effect of the 
restatement was to decrease provisions for impairment in 2005 by €2.6 million, increase foreign exchange by 
€126,000 million and increase the Fund’s opening retained earnings at 1 January 2005 by €822,000.  This lead to a 
subsequent reduction in balance sheet provisions of €3.5 million at 31 December 2005. 
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment. 

 
Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 

 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 

Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the disclosure 

of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including 
specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of sensitivity to 
market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, 
and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) 
introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages that capital.  The Fund has assessed 
the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main additional disclosures will be in relation 
to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 
January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.  
Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for evaluating 
operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  The Fund has assessed 
the impact of IFRS 8 and concluded that it is not expected to impact the operating segments of the Fund and that the 
main additional disclosures will be in relation to the determination and measurement of the Fund’s operating 
segments.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting 

period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 



 

5 

The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 

 
Changes in critical accounting estimates and judgements in the prior period 

 
 Trade Facilitation Programme fee income 
 During the year the Fund clarified the impact of its maximum exposure, or cap, under the Trade Facilitation 

Programme on fee income receivable.  The estimate of fee income receivable was subsequently revised and this 
resulted in a net decrease in fee income of €465,000 in 2006. 

 
 iii Significant accounting policies 
 

Financial guarantees 
Issued Trade Facilitation Programme guarantees are initially recognised at their fair value, and subsequently measured 
at the higher of the unamortised balance of the related fees received and deferred, and the expenditure required to 
settle the commitment at the balance sheet date.  The latter is determined upon consideration of objective evidence 
that the guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable that the guarantee will require to be settled 
and that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. 
 
The Fund resources are also used to guarantee the principal losses of certain investments of the Bank. The Fund 
receives no benefit for being a party to these guarantees, i.e. no fees are received. As there is no implied value of these 
guarantees to the Fund, they are deemed outside of the scope of IAS 39. 
 

 Any subsequent provisioning is determined under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
upon consideration of objective evidence that the guarantee is impaired and is recognised when it is both probable 
that the guarantee will require to be settled and that the settlement amount can be reliably estimated. 
 

 iv Foreign currencies 
 The unit of measurement for the presentation of the financial statements of the Fund is euro (€).  Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at spot rates as at 31 December 2006. Non-
monetary items are expressed in euro at the exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Revenue and expense 
items are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the date on which they occurred. 

 
 Exchange gains or losses arising from the translation of assets, liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to 

the income statement.   
 
 v Interest and fees 

Interest is recorded on an accruals basis.  
 
Fees received in respect of services provided over a period of time are recorded as income over the period during 
which the services are provided. Other fees and commissions are taken to income when received. 
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

 vi Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement by 

the Bank and a contributor. Contributions received in currencies other than euro are translated into euro at the 
exchange rates ruling at the time of the transaction. Outstanding contributions are translated into euro at spot rates as 
at 31 December 2006. 

 
 vii Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. This definition includes balances of cash and current accounts with foreign 
banks. 

 
viii Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  

 
 ix Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.  
Comparative figures have been restated where appropriate, as disclosed in “Significant changes in the financial 
statements”. 
 

4 Other operating expenses 
 
 Other operating expense comprises administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and includes external 

auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100). 
 
5 Other assets 

  Restated

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Interest receivable on placements  62  41

Fee income receivable 308  624

At 31 December 2006 370  665

 
6 Other liabilities 

  Restated

2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Deferred income from financial guarantees 61  38

Other 7  7

At 31 December 2006 68  45

 
7 Contributions 
 
 Contributions received from the donor countries are set out below: 

 KMSEFF TFP TMSEFF Total

Contributions at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Cumulative contributions received  
Germany - 2,389 - 2,389

Switzerland 2,180 3,164 1,710 7,054

At 31 December 2006 2,180 5,553 1,710 9,443
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
7 Contributions (continued) 
 

 KMSEFF TFP TMSEFF Total

Contributions at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Cumulative contributions received  
Germany - 2,389 - 2,389

Switzerland 2,180 3,164 1,710 7,054

At 31 December 2005 2,180 5,553 1,710 9,443

  
 2006 2006 2005 2005
Total contributions € 000                % € 000                %

Germany  2,389 25.3 2,389 25.3

Switzerland  7,054 74.7 7,054 74.7

At 31 December  9,443 100.0 9,443 100.0

 
8 Net currency position  

 
  

Euro
United States 

dollars Total
Net currency position at 31 December 2006  € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions               5,843 3,314 9,157

Other assets                  357 13 370

Total assets               6,200 3,327 9,527

  
Liabilities   

Other liabilities  (68)                        - (68)

Total contributors’ resources  (9,459)                        - (9,459)

Total liabilities   (9,527)                        - (9,527)

Net currency position at 31 December 2006  (3,327)                  3,327  -  

 

Restated 
 

Euro
United States 

dollars Total
Net currency position at 31 December 2005  € 000 € 000 € 000
Assets  
Placements with credit institutions  5,705 3,534 9,239

Other assets  654 11 665

Total assets  6,359 3,545 9,904

  
Liabilities   

Other liabilities  (45) - (45)

Total contributors’ resources  (9,859) - (9,859)

Total liabilities   (9,904) - (9,904)

Net currency position at 31 December 2005  (3,545) 3,545 - 

 
The exchange rate used for the conversion of assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars into euro at  
31 December 2006, where appropriate, was 1.3168 (2005: 1.1830). 
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
9 Liquidity position  

 
The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributors’ resources into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is presented under the 
most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest possible repayment date is 
shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category. 
 
 Over Over Over 

1 month 3 months 1 year and 
Up to and up to and and up to and up to and 

 and including including including including Maturity
1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined       Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000        € 000 

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 9,157 - - - -       9,157 

Other assets 62 213 75 20 -          370 

Total assets 9,219 213 75 20 -       9,527 

  

Liabilities    

Other liabilities - (11)                 (39)              (18) -            (68) 

Total contributors’ resources - - - - (9,459)      (9,459) 

Total liabilities   - (11) (39) (18) (9,459)    (9,527) 

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006  9,219 202 36 2 (9,459)           - 

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 9,219 9,421 9,457 9,459 -            - 

 
 Over Over Over 

1 month 3 months 1 year and 
Up to and up to and and up to and up to and 

and including including including including Maturity

Restated 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years undefined Total

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 9,239 - - - - 9,239

Other assets 41 552 72 - - 665

Total assets 9,280 552 72 - - 9,904

  

Liabilities    

Other liabilities - (11)               (34) - - (45)

Total contributors’ resources - - - - (9,859) (9,859)

Total liabilities   - (11)              (34) - (9,859) (9,904)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005  9,280 541 38 - (9,859) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 9,280 9,821 9,859 9,859 - -
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
10 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summarises the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
  

 Up to Non-interest- 
 and including bearing  
 1 month funds Total 

Interest rate risk 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions 9,157 - 9,157 

Other assets - 370 370 

Total assets 9,157 370 9,527 

   
Liabilities    

Other liabilities - (68) (68) 

Total contributors’ resources - (9,459) (9,459) 

Total liabilities  - (9,527)  (9,527) 

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 9,157 (9,157) - 

 

 
 The table below summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for monetary financial instruments: 
  

 United  United

 Euro States dollars Euro States dollars

 2006 2006 2005 2005

 % % % %

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 2.75 4.53 1.99 2.75

 

 Up to Non-interest-  
 and including bearing  

Restated 1 month funds Total 
Interest rate risk 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions 9,239 - 9,239 

Other assets - 665 665 

Total assets 9,239 665 9,904 

   
Liabilities    

Other liabilities - (45) (45)

Total contributors’ resources - (9,859) (9,859)

Total liabilities  - (9,904) (9,904)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 9,239 (9,239) - 
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
11 Guarantees 
   

At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding guarantees under the Trade Facilitation Programme for which, in the 
event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank will be refunded in part from the resources of the TFP sub-
account of the Fund.  At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum exposure under such guarantees was €4.8 million 
(2005: €3.3 million).  

 
 At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €6.3 million (USD 8.3 million) under the 

KMSEFF, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded in part from the 
resources of the KMSEFF sub-account of the Fund (2005: €6.7 million). At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum 
exposure under such guarantees was €1.6 million (2005: €1.8 million). 

 
 At 31 December 2006, the Bank had outstanding loans amounting to €5.2 million (USD 6.8 million) under the 

TMSEFF, for which, in the event of a future default, losses incurred by the Bank may be refunded in part from the 
resources of the TMSEFF sub-account of the Fund (2005: €4.7 million). At 31 December 2006, the Fund’s maximum 
exposure under such guarantees was €1.5 million (2005: €1.7 million). 

 
 No provisions have been recognised against the above exposures. 
 

 Guaranteed  Guaranteed 

 TFP transactions  TFP transactions

Analysis by country 2006  2005

 € 000  € 000

Kyrgyz Republic 576  272

Tajikistan 4,014  2,987

Turkmenistan 3  -

Uzbekistan 220  -

At 31 December 4,813  3,259

 
12 Segment information 
 

In accordance with IAS 14, the primary reporting segment of the Fund is by Sub-account and the secondary segment is 
geographical.  At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised three Sub-accounts and one geographic region 
(Central Asia). The results for the year and the assets and liabilities of the three Sub-accounts are as follows: 
 
Income statement TFP KMSEFF TMSEFF  Combined Fund

For the year ended 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000                  € 000

   
Interest and similar income                         160 79 73  312
Fee income (339) - -  (339)
Foreign exchange loss -                      (190)                    (176)  (366)
Other operating expenses                            (2) (2) (3)  (7)

Loss for the year (181) (113) (106)  (400)

   

Balance sheet   

At 31 December 2006    

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 5,843 1,719 1,595  9,157
Other assets 357 7 6  370

Total assets 6,200 1,726 1,601  9,527

    
Liabilities    
Other liabilities 63 2 3  68
Total contributors’ resources 6,137 1,724 1,598  9,459

Total liabilities  6,200 1,726 1,601  9,527
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The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
12 Segment information (continued) 
 

Restated   

Income statement TFP KMSEFF TMSEFF  Combined Fund

For the year ended 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000                  € 000

   
Interest and similar income 113 48 45  206
Fee income 279 - -  279
Foreign exchange gain - 240                           229                         469 
Other operating expenses                             (3)                        (2) (2)  (7)

Profit for the year 389                          286                         272                         947 

   

Balance sheet   

At 31 December 2005    

Assets   
Placements with credit institutions 5,705 1,833 1,701  9,239
Other assets 654 6 5  665

Total assets 6,359 1,839 1,706  9,904

    
Liabilities    
Other liabilities 41 2 2  45
Total contributors’ resources 6,318 1,837 1,704  9,859

Total liabilities  6,359 1,839 1,706  9,904

 
13 Post balance sheet events 
 

There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these financial 
statements. 

 



 

12 

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund  for 
the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, 
the statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the 
accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund 
  

    

Income statement  Year to    Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006 31 December 2006   31 December 2005 

 Note € 000   € 000 

      

Interest and similar income   405   278 
Maturity enhancement fees payable 4  (202)   (154)
Disbursements for technical cooperation 5  (430)   (267)
Other operating expenses 6  -   (87)

Net loss for the year  (227)   (230)

      
      

      

Balance sheet   31 December   31 December 

At 31 December 2006  2006   2005 
 Note € 000   € 000 

Assets     
Placements with credit institutions   13,883    14,033 
Other assets 7  26    12 
Contributions receivable 8  19,000    16,000 

Total assets  32,909   30,045 

     
Liabilities and contributor’s resources     
Other liabilities 9  333   242 

Total liabilities  333   242 
      
Contributions 8 33,000   30,000 
Reserves and retained earnings  (424)   (197)

Total contributor’s resources  32,576   29,803 

     
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources 32,909   30,045 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund 

 
Statement of changes in contributor’s resources   

For the year ended 31 December 2006   

 Accumulated   

 Contributions profit/(loss)  Total 

 € 000 € 000  € 000 

At 31 December 2004 30,000 33  30,033 
Loss for the year - (230)  (230) 
At 31 December 2005 30,000 (197)  29,803 
Contribution agreement 3,000 -  3,000 
Loss for the year - (227)  (227) 
At 31 December 2006 33,000 (424)  32,576 

   

 
 

  

 
 

  

 
 
Statement of cash flows  Year to   Year to 

For the year ended 31 December 2006   31 December   31 December 
 2006  2005 

€ 000  € 000 € 000  € 000 

     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Operating loss for the year (227)  (230)  
Increase in operating assets:     
   Interest receivable (14)  (5)  
Increase in operating liabilities:     
   Accrued expenses 91  242  
Net cash from operating activities  (150)  7 
Cash flows from financing activities     
Contributions -  7,000  
Net cash from financing activities -  7,000 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (150)  7,007 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14,033  7,026 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13,883  14,033 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1 Creation of the Special Fund 
 
 The creation of The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund (“the Fund”) was approved by the Board of Directors 

(“the Board”) of the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“the Bank”) at its meeting of 29 April 
2003 and is administered, inter alia, under the terms of Rules and Regulations of such Special Fund approved by 
the Board on that date. On 12 December 2003, the Bank entered into a contribution agreement (“the Agreement”) 
in respect of the Fund with the European Community (“EC”). 

 
 The Fund was established in accordance with Article 18 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.  The objective of 

the Fund is to alleviate the financing problems of municipalities and their utility companies for small infrastructure 
investments in Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and 
Slovenia (“the Accession countries”).   

 
2 President’s responsibilities 
 
 The President of the Bank is responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles 
of the European Community's Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and 
Other Financial Institutions. 

 
3 Accounting policies 
 
 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.  These 

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
i Basis of preparation 
 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the overall principles of the 
European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other 
Financial Institutions.  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
ii Significant changes in the financial statements 

 
 Standards early adopted by the Fund 
 
 No standards were early adopted by the Fund in 2006. 
 
 Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2006 but not relevant to the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the Fund’s 

2006 financial statements but are not relevant to the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IAS 19 (Amendment), Employee Benefits; 
• IAS 21 (Amendment), Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), Cash Flow Hedge Accounting for Forecast Intragroup Transactions; 
• IAS 39 (Amendment), The Fair Value Option; 
• IAS 39 and IFRS 4 (Amendment), Financial Guarantee Contracts; 
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; 
• IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources; 
• IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease; 
• IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds; and 
• IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment. 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 

 
Standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Fund 

 
 The following standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s accounting period beginning on 1 

January 2007 or later periods but that the Fund has not early adopted: 
 
 IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and the complementary Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2007) 
 IFRS 7 introduces new disclosures to improve the information about financial instruments.  It requires the 

disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, 
including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including an analysis of 
sensitivity to market risk.  It replaces IAS 30, Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar 
Financial Institutions, and the disclosure requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments:  Disclosure and 
Presentation.  IAS 1 (Amendment) introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s capital and how it manages 
that capital.  The Fund has assessed the impact of IFRS 7 and IAS 1 (Amendment) and concluded that the main 
additional disclosures will be in relation to sensitivity analysis.  The Fund will apply IFRS 7 and IAS 1 
(Amendment) from its annual period beginning 1 January 2007. 
 
IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2009) 

 IFRS 8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  Reportable 
segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating segments that meet specified criteria.  Operating 
segments are components of an entity about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated 
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing 
performance.  Generally, financial information is required to be reported on the basis that it is used internally for 
evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  As the 
Fund currently comprises a single primary segment (Banking operations) and one geographic region (“the 
Accession countries”) IFRS 8 is not expected to impact the financial statements.  The Fund will apply IFRS 8 from 
its annual period beginning 1 January 2009. 

 
 Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the Fund’s operations 
 
 The following interpretations to existing standards have been published that are mandatory for the Fund’s 

accounting period beginning on 1 January 2007 or later periods but are not relevant for the Fund’s operations: 
 

• IFRIC 7, Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 2006); 

• IFRIC 8, Scope of IFRS 2 (effective for accounting periods from 1 May 2006); 
• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives (effective for accounting periods from 1 June 2006); 
• IFRIC 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment (effective for accounting periods from 1 November 

2006); 
• IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for accounting periods from 1 March 

2007); and 
• IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting periods from 1 January 2008). 

 
 iii Contributions 
 Contributions are recognised as receivable in the balance sheet on the date of signature of a contribution agreement 

by the Bank and a contributor. Contributions receivable have not been discounted on a present value basis as there 
has been no indication as to the precise payment date of outstanding contributions. The Fund is satisfied that they 
will be realised for the amounts stated in the financial statements. 

 
 iv Disbursements for technical cooperation 
 Disbursements for technical cooperation, which represent payments for consultancy services provided to the Fund 

over a period of time, are recorded as expenditure over the period during which the services are received. 
 

 v Cash and cash equivalents 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three 

months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, which are available for use at short notice and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. This definition includes balances of cash and current accounts with foreign 
banks. 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
3 Accounting policies (continued) 
 

 vi Taxation 
In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May 1990, within the scope of its 
official activities, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct taxes and all taxes and duties 
levied upon goods and services acquired or imported.  
 
vii Comparatives 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
year. 
 

4 Maturity enhancement fees 
 
 Maturity enhancement fees are incentive payments paid from the Fund to partner banks participating in the 

Municipal Finance Facility, to encourage longer-term lending to small, medium and micro borrowers.  The fees are 
paid either annually or semi-annually and are calculated as one-off payments for each sub-loan, on a sliding scale 
based on the maturity enhancement of the sub-loan and paid directly to the partner bank. 

 
5 Disbursements for technical cooperation 
 

 Commitments   Undrawn 

Approved Disbursements  commitments 

€ 000 € 000  € 000 

Projects in operation    
At 1 January 2005 8,050 -  8,050 

Movement in the year - (267)  (267)

At 31 December 2005 8,050 (267)  7,783 

Movement in the year 250 (430)  (180)

At 31 December 2006 8,300 (697)  7,603 

 
6 Other operating expenses 
  
 Other operating expenses comprise administrative expenses directly relating to the Fund and include a 

management fee payable to the Bank which is set at 1.25 per cent of each contribution instalment. External 
auditors’ remuneration of €7,400 (2005: €7,100) is payable by the Bank from this management fee. 

 
7 Other assets 

2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Interest receivable on placements  26  12 

At 31 December 26  12 

 
8 Contributions 
 

Contributions received and receivable from the EC are set out below: 
2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Cumulative contributions received 14,000  14,000 

Contributions receivable 19,000  16,000 

Total contributions at 31 December 33,000  30,000 

 
 A replenishment agreement for €3 million was signed on 22 December 2006 (2005: €nil). No contribution 

instalments were received during the year ended 31 December 2006 (2005: €7 million).  
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
9 Other liabilities 

2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Maturity enhancement fees payable 116  63 

Disbursements for technical cooperation 217  179 

At 31 December 333  242 

 
10 Liquidity position 
 

The table below provides an analysis of assets, liabilities and contributor’s resources into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. It is 
presented under the most prudent consideration of maturity dates. Therefore, in the case of liabilities the earliest 
possible repayment date is shown, while for assets it is the latest possible repayment date. 
 
Those assets and liabilities that do not have a contractual maturity date are grouped together in the “Maturity 
undefined” category. 
 

 Over 1 month  

 Up to and up to

 and including and including Maturity  

 1 month 3 months undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets      

Placements with credit institutions  3,471 10,412 - 13,883 

Other assets  22 4 - 26 

Contributions receivable  - - 19,000 19,000 

Total assets 3,493 10,416 19,000 32,909 

     

Liabilities and contributor’s resources     

Other liabilities (217) (116) - (333)

Total contributor’s resources - - (32,576) (32,576)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources (217) (116) (32,576) (32,909)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 3,276 10,300 (13,576) - 

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2006 3,276 13,576 - - 

 
 Over 1 month  

 Up to and up to  

 and including and including Maturity 

 1 month 3 months undefined Total 

Liquidity position at 31 December 2005 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets   

Placements with credit institutions  3,620 10,413 - 14,033 

Other assets  7 5 - 12 

Contributions receivable  - - 16,000 16,000 

Total assets  3,627 10,418 16,000 30,045 

     

Liabilities and contributor’s resources     

Other liabilities  - (242) - (242)

Total contributor’s resources  - - (29,803) (29,803)

Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - (29,803) (30,045)

Net liquidity position at 31 December 2005  3,627 10,176 (13,803) -

Cumulative net liquidity position at 31 December 2005 3,627 13,803 - -
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
11 Interest rate risk 
 
 The table below summaries the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the table are the assets and 

liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 
  

  Over 1 month  

 Up to and up to Non-interest- 

 and including and including bearing 

 1 month 3 months funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2006 € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions 3,471 10,412 - 13,883 
Other assets - - 26 26 
Contributions receivable - - 19,000 19,000 

Total assets 3,471 10,412 19,026 32,909 

  
Liabilities and contributor’s resources  
Other liabilities - - (333) (333)
Total contributor’s resources - - (32,576) (32,576)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - (32,909) (32,909)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 3,471 10,412 (13,883) - 

 
 Over 1 month  

 Up to and up to Non-interest- 

 and including and including bearing 

 1 month 3 months funds Total 

Interest rate risk at 31 December 2005  € 000 € 000 € 000 € 000 

Assets  
Placements with credit institutions  3,620 10,413 - 14,033 
Other assets - - 12 12 
Contributions receivable - - 16,000 16,000 

Total assets 3,620 10,413 16,012 30,045 

    
Liabilities and contributor’s resources    
Other liabilities - - (242) (242)
Total contributor’s resources - - (29,803) (29,803)
Total liabilities and contributor’s resources - - (30,045) (30,045)

Interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2005 3,620 10,413 (14,033) -

 
 The effective interest rate at 31 December 2006 for Placements with credit institutions was 3.55 per cent 

(2005: 2.41 per cent). 
 
12 Undrawn commitments 

 2006  2005 

 € 000  € 000 

Disbursements for technical cooperation 7,603  7,783 

At 31 December 7,603  7,783 

 
13 Segment information 
 
 In accordance with IAS 14, the primary segment of the Fund is business operation and the secondary segment 

is geographical. At 31 December 2006, the activities of the Fund comprised a single primary segment 
(Banking operations) and one geographic region (“the Accession countries”).  Consequently, no additional 
disclosure is required. 
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The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund  
 
Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
 
14 Post balance sheet events 
 
 There have been no material post-balance sheet events that would require disclosure or adjustment to these 

financial statements. 
 



 

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors of the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development (the ‘Bank’) 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund for 
the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the income statement, the balance sheet, 
the statement of changes in contributor’s resources, the statement of cash flows, the 
accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements (“financial statements”). 
 
President’s responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The President is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and in accordance with the overall principles of 
the European Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated 
Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions. This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those 
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund at 31 December 2006 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the overall principles of the European 
Community’s Council Directive on Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks 
and Other Financial Institutions. 
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Other matters 
 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the financial results section of the Financial Report is 
not consistent with the financial statements, if the Bank has not kept proper accounting 
records, or if we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our 
audit. 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for, and only for, the Bank and for the 
confidential use of the Contributors to the Fund and for no other purpose.  We do not, in 
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors  
London 
 
6 March 2007 
 
 

 10


	Special Fund financial statements
	The Baltic Investment Special Fund
	The Baltic Technical Assistance Special Fund
	The Russia Small Business Investment Special Fund
	The Russia Small Business Technical Cooperation Special Fund
	The EBRD Technical Cooperation Special Fund
	The Financial Intermediary Investment Special Fund
	The Italian Investment Special Fund
	The SME Finance Facility Special Fund
	The Balkan Region Special Fund
	The EBRD SME Special Fund
	The Central Asia Risk Sharing Special Fund
	The Municipal Finance Facility Special Fund


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Europe ISO Coated FOGRA27)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.5
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /ArialUnicodeMS
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /ENU ([Based on 'StandardA4'] Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToRGB
      /DestinationProfileName (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements true
      /GenerateStructure true
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MarksOffset 6
      /MarksWeight 0.250000
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PageMarksFile /RomanDefault
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [5952.756 8418.897]
>> setpagedevice


